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Mrs. Alena Munkova, née Synkova, was born in 1926 in Prague into the family of dentist Emil
Synek, who was politically and professionally active, and his brother Karel was head of a well-
known publishing house and bookstore in Prague, which he took over from his father, Adolf Synek.
When Alena Munkova-Synkova was ending Grade One, her mother died of cancer. Her father
remarried, but his second wife also died of cancer five years later. Right before the ban on mixed
marriages 1, her father married for a third time. Because Emil Synek was protected by this
marriage, the first to be summoned for transport to a concentration camp was Mrs. Munkova's
older brother, Jiri, who didn't report for transport, and survived the war in hiding. Mrs. Munkova was
summoned some time later. She left for Terezin 2, where she was protected from further transport
to Auschwitz by the fact that she was considered to be a half-breed. After the war she returned to
Prague, where she lived for some time with her stepmother, who had also survived the war, even
though she was arrested by the Gestapo along with Mrs. Munkova's father, apparently on the basis
of some denunciation, and both ended up in a concentration camp. Her father, however, died in
Auschwitz. She graduated from the Faculty of Journalism at the University of Political and Social
Sciences, and started working on animated films at Barrandov [a well-known film studio in Prague],
from where she was however thrown out due to her Jewish origins. But after several detours she
finally returned to film, and until retirement worked as a dramaturge in animated and puppet films.
Today she lives in Prague with her husband, Jiri Munk, an architect, and is still very active.
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Glossary

Family background

My paternal grandfather was named Adolf Synek. He was born on 1st November 1871. According to
records at the Jewish community in Prague, it was in Mitrovice, in German written Mitrovitz. But |
don't know, translated into Czech it could be Mlada Vozice, by Tabor. All the Syneks were from
southern Bohemia, from around Tabor. | came across this publication that came out not long ago,
about old companies from this region, where there were lots of Syneks. It was probably this
regional name there. Grandpa's brother Bohumil, however, wrote it with an 'i,' which was most
likely a question of birth certificates. When I retired | also had a problem with it, because some of
my documents have an "' and others a 'y.' As far as | know, my father's grandparents were from
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Mlada Vozice, but | don't know anything more about them. They probably weren't big landowners,
I'd say that more likely they were agricultural workers or merchants. | don't know, I'd be guessing.
Grandpa died on 20th January 1943 in Terezin, where he went on 20th November 1942.

My grandfather definitely didn't have a university education, he was a tradesman, and apparently
had studied somewhere in Vienna. But his mother tongue was Czech. He then worked his entire life
as a book-seller and publisher, the two were usually connected back then. He became famous by
having the monopoly on Hasek's Schweik 3. Then he had this edition named 'Minor Works of Major
Authors' or something like that, which were classics, beginning with Thomas Mann and ending with
| don't know who. [Mann, Thomas (1875 - 1955): German writer, philanthropist and essayist,
awarded the Nobel Prize for Literature in 1929.] 1 don't know how Grandpa came by that publishing
house, but it was in the city ward of Prague 7, on Letna, on Janovskeho Street, which | think is still
named that. | remember going to visit him as a small child. The bookstore was down on the ground
floor, so | would always stand on the windowsill, and he'd always take me down off the window.

Uncle Karel then took over the publishing house, sometime in 1936, and moved it all to Vodickova
Street. It's the store opposite the street named V Jame. Besides the publishing house and
bookstore, there was also this so- called 'Karel Synek's Children's Corner,' where there were some
toys, too.

My grandfather had two brothers, Bohumil and Rudolf. Bohumil Sinek was born on 19th October
1872, and on 10th July 1942 went to Terezin. He died in Treblinka, but when, | don't know. Rudolf
Synek was born on 5th January 1876, and on 25th April 1942 went into the transport, and they took
him to Warsaw. | never heard of anything going to Warsaw before. To Lodz 4, there yes, those went
in 1941. But this is what it says in the records at the Jewish community [in Prague]. With a cross,
that he died there. No one knows when, but probably in 1943. If he left for there already in April
1942, then he couldn't have survived longer than that.

All I know about his brothers is that they were probably members of the wealthier class, because
Bohumil owned at least one building, which | was then supposed to inherit. This was because
Bohumil didn't have children of his own. But there was probably more than one building. |
remember that he lived on the corner of what was back then named Sanitrova Street. But the
building he owned was somewhere else, on Bilkova Street.

| also remember that | was in that building when the funeral of T.G. Masaryk 5 was taking place.
You see, the funeral procession was going to pass by there, so about fifty of us gathered there,
from my point of view a huge number of people, there was all sorts of food served, and we
watched. It was apparently all relatives, who | hadn't even known existed. | was about eight or nine
years old at the time. Back then | had this feeling that those people didn't even have jobs. On the
other hand, they were already older men, so | don't know. Perhaps they were some local
businessmen, | don't know, I'd be making it up.

| don't know what Rudolf did. All | remember is that he had a large mustache. He had two
daughters, Marta and Irma. Her [Irma’'s] husband was named lltis, and after the war he was in
charge of a magazine at the Jewish community. They had a daughter, Ruth. But then they divorced
and Irma and Ruth moved away to Chile. And then | found out by chance, and it's not that long ago,
that they both died in Israel. That they had moved, | don't know when and why, from Chile to Israel.
After many long years, apparently. Marta was still here in Prague after the war, but | don't know


https://www.centropa.org/en/biography/alena-munkova
https://www.centropa.org

Q centropa www.centropa.org/en/biography/alena-munkova

anything at all about her. Suddenly she wasn't there anymore, most likely she died.

My grandmother was named Terezie, her maiden name was Loéfflerova, and she was from
somewhere in Slovakia. | don't know anything about her parents. But they probably weren't overly
wealthy, because she went to Vienna to work as a servant. But that's just my hypothesis. Her
education was most likely a basic one. She met Grandpa in Vienna, where she was working as a
servant. That's where they probably got married, because my father, Emil Synek, was born there,
but relatively soon they moved to Czechoslovakia.

She died in 1939 in a mental institution. Her sister and their mother were also mentally ill, so I've
got this good family medical history. | don't know exactly what she had, back then they probably
didn't classify things. Maybe it was some sort of dementia or something like that. | myself, as a ten-
year-old, saw visible signs of lack of concentration and distance from reality in her. And | know that
she had a horrible clutter in this large embroidered bag that ladies carried back then. So there
were already some seeds of schizophrenia or some nervous disease there. Otherwise she was
exceptionally kind and affectionate, and saw herself in her grandchildren, as it usually is with
grannies.

She's buried at the new Jewish cemetery in Prague, I've found this out only recently. At that time
they weren't burying people at the old cemetery much anymore. But she doesn't have a
tombstone, because in 1939 that was already forbidden. I'm going to have to have one made.
Whether she herself lived in some Jewish fashion, that | don't know, we didn't talk about things like
that at home at all.

The Synek family was completely assimilated. It's true that | didn't see my grandfather's brothers,
Rudolf and Bohumil, so there | don't know. As far as Grandpa Adolf goes, | don't at all remember
there being anything, him celebrating some holidays, although both we and Grandpa lived on
Letna, close to each other, so | would most likely have noticed something. But | don't remember
anything like that. All | know is that my father, who was very liberal, had me 'liberated' from
religion classes, because he wanted, as he later told me, for me to one day choose for myself. But
by me that was a mistake, because it belongs to one's education. And | remember that they kept it
a secret from my grandfather. That apparently he'd have been upset, so obviously there were at
least some traditions there. What's more, his two sons, both my father and my uncle Karel, married
Christian women. With my uncle it was his first wife, with my father not until the second and third.

My grandfather on my mother's side was named Bohumil Steiner. He was born in 1871 in
Kovansko, Nymburk region. But back then it fell under Kolin. He lived in Kolin, where he was in the
textile business, | remember the store. He died on 20th October 1932, a year before the death of
my mother, his daughter Marie. Probably in Kolin, because somewhere | had some documents
about what Grandma had paid the funeral service, and that was all in Kolin. So he's most likely got
to be somewhere in the old Jewish cemetery in Kolin.

My grandmother on my mother's side was named Hermina, née Fialova. She was born on 10th
August 1869, so she was two years older than Grandpa, which was very unusual back then. On the
contrary, men used to be for example twenty years older. I've also got a younger husband, so I'm
continuing the 'tradition.' After Grandpa died, my grandmother moved with my mother's sister,
Anna, from Kolin to Prague.
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Exactly when I'm not sure, but it probably took a while for them to wind down the store. Because
Grandpa had a textile store in Kolin, in this little street close to the town square. | remember that
the entrance was right on the street, and in the courtyard there - it's as if | saw it in front of me
even now - there were cobblestones, that had grass growing up between them. Back then, as a
child, | was very interested as to why there was grass growing up between the cobblestones there.
A colorful impression like that stays with you your whole life.

My grandmother and Aunt Anna also had some little store in Prague, in Smichov, but they went
bankrupt right away. They then had it in Zizkov [a quarter of Prague], and again went bankrupt. |
guess they weren't good at it, my grandmother had probably never done it. She died sometime
during the war, most likely in 1942. | don't know if she had any siblings. | later lost contact with
them, because after my first mother died, my father remarried, and although that second mother
of mine was very kind, she was afraid of me having contact with that original family. But | used to
go to Zizkov around once a year anyways. | remember that they lived at 5 Milicova Street. But as
soon as | walked in, my grandmother would start weeping, because as soon as she'd see me, she'd
right away feel sad that her daughter had died. | remember her as being very slight, this proper
grandma, delicate. But that's probably a bit of a fabrication after all those years.

| remember my grandfather being very tall, and my grandma small. My mother and aunt were also
relatively small, | probably inherited it from them. But Grandpa Steiner, he was tall. So at least my
brother, Jiri, isn't such a shrimp. | used to envy him that a lot. But on the other hand, I've got my
grandfather's eyes, their shape, setting, look, color. Our father had grey eyes, Mother was dark-
eyed, but I've got quite intensely blue eyes after Grandpa. Genes are genes.

As far as my mother's parent's religiousness goes, there | don't remember anything. We used to go
see Grandpa, | remember him playing with me and | used to get fabric scraps from him. And | know
that Grandpa used to take my brother Jiri, who was five years older than I, with him to the fair,
where he always used to display his wares. But | don't remember them celebrating any holidays,
for example.

My father, Emil Synek, was born in Vienna, as I've mentioned, on 1st June 1894. He apprenticed as
a dental technician, and then took some exams, so he was a dentist. He studied to be a dental
technician and lab technician, and then wrote some exams, so he was a dentist. Which means that
he could pull teeth and in general do everything on the level of a dental surgeon. He had his own
large dental practice on Letna. He was also very active on the dental panel, and lectured and |
don't know what all else. He was very active in his profession, and was always educating himself
and studying dozens of professional magazines. | think that he was one of the first ones here to
have an X-ray machine. | remember that it was from Siemens, that company supplied it to us from
Germany. But he wasn't a physician, he was a dentist.

By the way, he was very popular, because he used to fix teeth for the Sparta soccer team 6 for
free. It was in general characteristic of him that he fixed a lot of people's teeth for free, when they
didn't have money. He used to say that he'd make it up on the rich ones. These days he wouldn't
be able to exist, he'd go out of business within a year. He had a strong sense of social
responsibility, which was common in rich Jewish families.

My father was in the army during World War I, but he never told us where and for how long. But |
do know for sure that he told us that he was in uniform in 1918, when Austrian emblems were
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being torn down. That revolution in 1918 was a big experience for him. But he probably didn't
spend much time in the army, because he was wounded in some way. Even though who knows how
it was, because my father was quite dead set against war, he'd always been an anti-militarist.

My father had one brother, Karel. He was somewhat younger, | think he was born sometime around
1896. He married Vlasta, née Kolarova. She apprenticed as a dental technician at my father's
where she met my uncle. Vlasta wasn't Jewish, so my uncle would have survived the war thanks to
that mixed marriage, but they divorced because of property. Probably in 1940 or 1941. My aunt
was probably afraid to live with a Jew. | wouldn't say that it was only for the sake of appearances,
because after that they didn't live together anymore. | think that my uncle then lived with his
father, but | don't know exactly. He used to come to our place for lunch. Already before his
departure for Terezin, my uncle had open tuberculosis - | remember that we always used to wash
all the dishes with permanganate - and he died of this disease in Terezin, in 1943.

Karel and Vlasta had two daughters, René and Milena. René is a year younger than |, she was born
on 23rd September 1927. | remember that when we were in public school, we'd always walk to
school together, because they also lived on Letna. René then married Igor Korolkov, who was from
a Russian émigré family, and after the war they moved to Holland together. She's still alive, in
Amsterdam, and her husband died two years ago. Before moving away, René was a seamstress by
trade, and then studied at the Faculty of Philosophy, but didn't finish. In Amsterdam she then had a
large fashion studio with many employees, where they used to make higher-quality clothing.

The second daughter, Milena, married name Kuthejlova, was born in January 1937, | think. She
graduated from economics at university and worked in television, where she worked as an editor
for magazines about TV programs. | think that she's perhaps still there now, as a retiree - she's
eleven years younger than | - and works in the library. | don't know exactly.

My cousins didn't go onto the transport during the war, because they were half-breeds. Few people
know that according to the Nuremberg Laws 7, the year 1935 was a defining line for children from
mixed families. Children that were born before 1935 and weren't registered at the Jewish
community, which both my cousins weren't - this also shows how religiously inclined our family was
- were therefore so-called Aryan half-breeds. Children born before 1935 who were registered at the
Jewish community were so-called Jewish half-breeds. And children that were born after 1935 were
Jewish half- breeds, whether they were registered or not. | know this because | myself was
considered to also be a half-breed, which saved my life. As far as religion goes, as I've indicated,
Uncle Karel didn't live in any particularly Jewish fashion, he didn't observe anything at all. | don't
know how deeply he felt his Jewish origin, but the Germans then made sure of reminding him of it.

We of course saw my uncle's family, the family stuck together. | also used to see my cousin René
quite often. My father was at one time in the Zinvnostenska Party 8, because he was for the middle
of the road as a matter of principle, and his brother, Karel, apparently used to try to convince him
to vote for the National Socialists. But | don't know how it ended up. My father was perhaps even
active in that Zivnostenska Party within the scope of Prague 7, but | don't know anything exact. He
was also very active on the Board of Dentistry, where he used to lecture and perhaps even had
some sort of function, | don't know what kind.

My father was in general very sociable, quite often he'd go out in the evening, to cafés and so on.
Within the scope of these groups, as an eleven- year-old, | used to play in some theater and used
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to attend Sokol 9. There | also had my first conflict, when they yelled 'Jewess' at me. My father was
active in the Czech-Jewish Association 10, assimilated Jews that identified with the Czech nation.
They published the Rozvoj weekly, which my father subscribed to.

My mother was named Marie, née Steinerova. She was born on 9th August 1898 in Kolin - she was
four years younger than my father - and died before the war, in 1933, of cancer. As | then found
out, her father had also died of cancer, a year before her.

How did she and my father meet? | don't know, my mother was from Kolin and my father from
Prague, but back then couples apparently used to meet through all sorts of matchmakers, and it
was said - don't take this completely seriously - that my father needed a rich bride so that he could
start his dental practice. Up till then my mother had been at home, as was right and proper for
young ladies back then. She definitely didn't have any sort of university education, but she played
the piano beautifully. She was quite a melancholic, and used to play for days on end. | don't have
any idea what sort of high school education she had either. Maybe someone used to come and give
her piano lessons. That would have been appropriate for that social class. Young ladies knew how
to cook, sew and play the piano.

| don't even know what her religious inclinations were like, | was six when she died - it was at the
end of Grade One - she'd already been ill for the last two years.

My mother had one sister, named Anna Schwelbova. She was born on 10th December 1904. She
was married about three times, and with one of her husbands, some Neumann, she had a son,
Zdenek, who was two years older than I. | think that Neumann, but that I'm not sure of, maybe it
was Schwelba, was a barber or hairdresser, something like that. Anna, her son and her mother, my
grandmother Hermina Steinerova, went onto the transport already at the beginning of 1942, and
maybe didn't even go through Terezin, but straight away somewhere further on. | think that they
died somewhere in Poland.

Growing up

My name is Alena Munkova, and | was born on 24th September 1926. | was born in Prague, and
besides Terezin, I've never lived anywhere else. I've got one brother, who was born in 1921. He
was born on 26th November. His real name is Jiri Synek, but he's known by his artistic name of
Frantisek Listopad [Listopad, Frantisek (b. 1921): real name Jiri Synek, Czech poet and writer of
prosel. I'm giving his artistic name, because he's quite popular under his pseudonym abroad as
well as here. He's had several books published, and also does theater.

My parents had one more child, born before me, but it soon died. So | don't have any other siblings,
not even step-siblings. Because my father married two more times, but didn't have any children
with any of those women, and neither did they have any children from previous marriages. They
were divorced and childless when they married him.

My childhood is much interwoven with Letna, where | lived. | really was rooted in that sidewalk
there. The way they say a person has roots in land, here it was the sidewalk, with its paving stones.
| knew all the store owners on Letna, | used to run to the park there, and to Stromovka [Park]. And
the loss of that place where you grew up - and certainly it's different for everyone - can't be
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renewed again. A person pretends a bit, but it's gone. After the war | did return to Letna, but
everything was different. But to this day, when | walk by Letna, | feel a twinge. To this day, | smell
that aroma, what it smelled like there. | remember colors a lot, and smells perhaps even more. |
think that childhood forms a person, whether he wants it or not. Or also deforms.

So before the war, Letna was my whole life. I've got this memory of our apartment building's
courtyard. It's still there, No. 1, we were on the ground floor, on the corner. Back then it was
Belcrediho Avenue, now it's Milady Horakove, if I'm not mistaken. Then they made it into a bank,
and now | think there's a KFC there. From bad to worse. Back then, when you entered the building,
and | even think that the doors are still almost the same, in horrible condition, there on the end of
this L-shaped hallway, was the entrance to our apartment. But on the other side, right after the
apartment door, was another door, which led into the waiting room and into the clinic. So the entire
ground floor was divided among my father's dental practice and our apartment.

Then there was of course a courtyard, where | used to play. People used to hang carpets there,
there were these two small trees, and it was all quite grimy. And on the ground floor of the building
there was a man with a junk shop, named Andrle. He was a mysterious figure, and | never had the
courage to go down into the basement. By the way, back then those apartments had toilets in the
hall, not in the apartments. But the toilet was of course only ours.

| don't remember us having a maidservant in that first era, because my mother was at home, and
there was a building caretaker there who used to do things, and someone also used to come over
and do the laundry. So maybe there was some sort of help, some sort of cleaners and so on. My
memories of that are of course very foggy by now. But a servant as such wouldn't even have had
anyplace to live there.

Before | started going to school | was at home, but from what I've been told, my older brother Jiri
attended French nursery school that last year before he went to school. But | remember being in
Brevnov with my mother, and | even know about where the staircase was that she used to lead me
up to dance school. | was five at the time. In one of those dance schools for little children | was
even supposedly supposed to play a part in some theater, back then it was the German Theater,
which today is the State Opera beside the main train station. But my father forbade it, that he
didn't want me to grow up to be in the theater. Despite his being such a liberal, something
conservative inside him reared its head. | remember being terribly sad because of that. | guess my
mother didn't succeed in forcing the issue, or didn't want to, | don't know.

| don't remember any family vacations or trips, that's already quite foggy, maybe my brother would
remember, he is five years older, after all. All | remember are the trips to Grandpa's in Kolin.

Then | started Grade One. From this time | remember that an apprentice from my father's lab used
to come get me after school. | would always come with untied shoelaces, so he'd always tie them
for me. I've got a very strong memory of this. The apprentice would kneel and tie my shoes. That's
quite cute. | don't know if we always had gym class, or why | didn't have them tied. But back then
people wore lace-up ankle boots, not sandals. | think that by then my mother was quite ill, and so
no one was really taking care of me much. That it's the result of there being no one to tell me:
'You've got to tie them yourself.' That's why I'm talking about it, not because of those shoes. That |
was actually a bit of an outsider, not on purpose, but because of the situation that existed in our
family.
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But that was given by the fact that our mother was dying, and | think that the cancer lingered on
quite long. | remember being in some room, in some dining room, and my mother is lying in the
next room, and Grandma Hermina, who'd come for a visit is with her, and my mother is weeping
horribly. They didn't know that | was listening. And my mother is saying, 'What will become of the
children, what will become of the children?' And Grandma is consoling her.

That was a horrible experience for me. For one, | didn't want them to know that | could hear it, and
then, for a child, suddenly something opens up in front of you, you don't even know its exact
scope, because the words aren't completely filled with content, but despite that you know that it's
something terrible. That it's something horrible, unjust, cruel, something that you can't defend
yourself against. That was a very terribly strong moment for me at such a tender age. | was six
then. Later | even wrote this poem about it. | also remember how horrible it seemed to me when
then our teacher announced it to the class, and said, 'Your poor classmate's...' It was awful. Even
though she probably thought that that was all right, she didn't know how else to react. You can't
judge that at all.

By the way, that teacher was named Helena Tumova, and she was an old maid, because during the
First Republic 11 teachers were usually single, unmarried women. | remember her being very strict,
but everything that | know how to do, | know from those first years when she taught us. Everything
that | know in Czech, | know from her. It was a perfect foundation.

| don't remember what went on after my mother's death, it's a blank spot for me. All | remember is
us moving to another apartment. This is because our father remarried, but that second wife also
died of cancer five years later. That must have been something insane for my father, an absolute
train wreck. | was twelve, so it was most likely in 1937 or 1938. That wife was named Marta, née
Polakova, then Erbenova, and Synkova after my father. So she was once divorced. She was also a
dentist, so they obviously probably met through work. She was a Protestant, from a Protestant
family, but that didn't play a role at all. | never had any conflicts with her, she was great. Then
when she became seriously ill, | used to sit with her a lot, because by then | was already eleven or
twelve.

| remember that my brother refused to call her Mommy, and called her Marta. He rebelled. Well, he
was in the full bloom of puberty at the time. There were frightful conflicts because of it, but our
father didn't break him. | myself called her Mom. Not Mommy, but Mom. | didn't have any
inhibitions in my relationship with her, but | was a little bit afraid of her. She was large and dark,
and was relatively, as people from a Protestant environment are, or were, strict and high-minded.
Something like that was present in her.

What's more, she was no longer all that young, and it was hard for her to relate to children. With
me it still somewhat worked, but she probably never found a way to have a relationship with my
brother. She herself had no children, and was an independent, emancipated woman - back then
there weren't many women studying medicine either - so I'm convinced, that is, it's my deduction,
but for sure a correct one, that it was a problem for her to marry a man with two children. And
what's more with a son in puberty and rebellious. For sure our father was also troubled by that
situation.

As I've said, my second mother was also a dentist. Our original apartment became her clinic; we
created a large waiting room and laboratory there, where she worked on teeth. We had several
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employees in the laboratory. We moved to what was at the time Belskeho Avenue, now | think it's
called Ulice Dukelskych Hrdinu [Dukla Heroes Street], into a modern four-room apartment with all
conveniences. There my brother and | already had a children's room, there was also a large dining
room, a den, my parents' bedroom and of course a kitchen and a room for the maid, which we had
at the time.

We had a maid for a long time, when the second mother died, she was still there. We called her
Fanca, | know that she was from Boskovice, by Brno, in Moravia. There were probably quite a few
Moravian girls working as servants, and | know that they were treated quite well. With what she
made working for us, Fanca for example built a house in Dablice.

The parents of my second mother, Marta, lived in the village of Kluky, by Podebrady. We used to go
visit them often, almost every Sunday, because my father loved cars. Every little while we had a
new car. I'd say that we were more or less middle class. We didn't own buildings, our father didn't
want that. But we always had cars, every three years a new car. Our parents probably used to go
on decent holidays, even though | don't even know how much they made a year. They would often
go to the Tatras [High Tatras: a mountain range in Slovakial].

But my father always said that he didn't save money. Which was the right thing to do. He used to
say that for a country's economy to function, money has to circulate. That was his motto. An
absolutely modern way of thinking. And he also used to say as a joke that he wanted someone to
marry me out of love and not for money. Back then people used to save up for girls' dowries. And
he did the right thing, because he enjoyed his money. Then we lost everything anyways. He also
equipped his dental practice with the latest. Had one of the first X-ray machines from Siemens.

| also remember my second mother's siblings. She had two brothers and one sister. | even know
that one of her brothers was a university professor, Polak, and that at one time he lectured in
Bratislava. | don't know his first name. The other one, also named Polak of course, was the director
of some sugar refinery somewhere near Prague. Her sister lived in Podebrady; she was named
Karla, was married or perhaps divorced, and was some sort of public servant. The siblings used to
get together in Kluky, because the family was quite spread out. There were also perhaps some
cousins, | don't know exactly any more.

In Kluky they had a beautiful garden, by this larger country house. From there I've got very intense
memories of a garden full of flowers, of course with a swing and so on. We used to go to various
nearby farms for fresh eggs... | remember these large, beautiful, grand farms, at least they seemed
to be big to me. Apparently people used to bring food from there to Prague, and at the Prague city
limits there was then a so-called customs checkpoint. Police, basically. And when you brought in
food, you had to pay a tax. Which of course no one ever paid. | know how people would talk about
for example having a couple of eggs with them, and said, 'l have nothing,' and everyone that used
to bring in things then were terribly pleased that they'd brought in a couple of eggs. But it was
more of a sport than anything else, just for fun.

| also remember - Grandpa and Grandma had a maid, | guess they weren't that poor - and she'd
always go with me to the nearest forest, where there were dogs' graves. Apparently left by some
local nobility, that | don't know. It was on the way out of Kluky, but not towards Prague, nor
towards Podebrady, but on the other side. Before you get to Podebrady, there's a large graveyard
there, then a turnoff towards Kluky, and if you took that turnoff and continued on, there were big
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forests there. And that's where those graves were. And not just one, several of them. Those dogs
also had names there. For a kid it was an attraction. Back then it wasn't common, perhaps with the
exception of some nobility and counts, to bury dogs. And these graves must have dated back to
Austrian times.

Besides trips to Kluky to visit my second mother's parents, | also used to go to a guesthouse during
the summer holidays, which was in Doksy. | was supposed to learn German there, but because it
was all Czech children there, besides the German teachers, we spoke only Czech. It was by Mach's
Lake, so I've got beautiful memories of Mach's Lake, where at the age of nine, when | was there, |
probably learned to swim a bit, but | don't exactly know any more.

One summer vacation, | might have been nine, ten or perhaps eleven, we were in a different
guesthouse, in Nadejkov, which is in southern Bohemia, whose owners were relatives of my first
mother, by the name of Seger. They had a farm in Nadejkov, and during the summer there was
some sort of camp set up there, where my brother and | were invited. Mrs. Segerova was probably
my mother's cousin. They had two sons, one was older by about two years and the other by about
four, one was named Milan and they called the second one Hansi, as he was named Jan.

I met Milan after the war during one reunion of children from Terezin. We were both amazed that
we had survived. At that time he was already living in Israel, where he married Eva Diamantova,
whom | remember from Terezin. It hasn't been so long ago that their son contacted me. He was
terribly glad, and said, 'Finally I'll find out something about the Steiners again.' But I'll tell you, that
| didn't have the feeling that he's some sort of relative of mine, by which | mean to say that it's not
true that a person right away feels some sort of emotions. He'd already been born in Israel, and
even though he speaks Czech, it very much depends on where a person grows up. Even though I'm
always very afraid to succumb to some sort of false sentimentality, so | hold back from such
feelings.

| have memories from the beginning of the war, and they're still quite sharp, because | wasn't
brought up in the spirit of some sort of Jewish consciousness, and so it was something new for me
at the time. Besides that, | was in puberty. Suddenly came this blow from nowhere, in the sense
that the war was actually the beginning of a feeling, at first not completely conscious, but then of
course more and more an intensely conscious feeling, that | didn't belong in the society that I lived
in. They threw us out of school 12; we weren't allowed to continue. One prohibition followed
another, | don't know exactly from what date. My father, who you could say was emotionally
unstable, was breaking down more and more. | was suddenly in a situation where | began to be
afraid of people.

The first impact was already before the war, when some little girl in Sokol yelled 'Jew' at me. | had
no idea what she was going on about. We were an absolutely assimilated family, but it didn't come
about through some specific aim, it came about due to our way of life. In my view it's very
important that as long as people acted naturally, everything flowed from their way of life. Not that
they said to themselves: 'I'll be this, or that.' Today there's a bit of a tendency for people to
pretend, and not think enough. But that generation back then, and today it's seen as an attitude
that's a bit naive in some respects, was convinced that their way of life was right, and that that's
the way they should behave.
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With the beginning of the war, | was alerted to the fact that people were watching us. Likely they
were also the people across from us in the building - back then all the buildings in Letna had
superintendents. They were usually from the poorer classes, although not all of them. As it's always
been, envy also began. One prohibition after another was inflicted upon us, and suddenly | heard
that we had to have a big 'J,' for 'Jude,' in our identification, that we can walk only in certain streets,
and on streetcars ride only in the back car. To this day | always get on the first car, that's in my
subconscious, and it's been a long time already.

As a Jewish family, we also had food coupons that were then in use designated with a big 'J.' We
had smaller rations and could shop only during certain hours. Some shopkeepers used to bring my
father groceries, as he was after all well-known and liked in Letna. | myself witnessed how
surprised they were. 'Mr. Synek, those Jewish laws apply to you?' It was something
incomprehensible for me. Here, during the First Republic, people didn't reflect on things so much
as to say about someone that he was or wasn't a Jew. In a smaller town, or in Moravia and Slovakia,
perhaps that was something completely different. I'm only talking about my experience.

| remember that a prohibition, or a bylaw came out - it was one of the first Nuremberg Laws - that
the word jew had to be written with a capital J. That was something that | didn't understand at all
anymore, | only understood that it was supposed to be pejorative. It had never been written like
that before. | haven't accepted it to this day, here jew with a big ] is used all the time, though I've
asked in my articles for it to not be that way. Because | think that it's very, very wrong, because
from that stem other things. Everyone uses only a capital J, but that's nationality, not religion, and
why is it always taken as a nationality? [Editor's note: In the Czech language, jew in a religious
context is written with a small "j," and Jew in the context of nationality with a capital ")."] It can't be
used constantly.

In 1934 there was some sort of census, well, so a few people identified themselves as being of
Jewish nationality, so then a capital J. Even the state is Israel, not Jew. And another thing, on our
report cards, we had Israeli written for our religion, not Jewish. Or 'of Moses.' I'm very insulted by it,
and | think that it supports anti-Semitism. It supports the notion that we're somehow isolating
ourselves. Due to this | had big conflicts at the Prague community, even with Rabbi Sidon, with
whom I'm otherwise on a first-name basis, as we were once co-workers. [Sidon, Karol Efraim (b.
1942): from 1992 Prague and national rabbi.] He knows it, and knows my opinions. The community
also issues everything with a capital J, and that's quite important. Some would say, don't make a
fuss, little j, big J, but that's not true. Big things are composed of small ones.

On top of it all, my father's dental practice was endangered, but then he got permission for only
Jewish clientele, and thus | was able to work as his assistant. At that time everything had to be
given away, musical instruments, pets, and as a dentist my father had gold. Well, | think that then
he wasn't allowed to work with gold anymore, there were various substitutes. Then he could only
do fillings, because he had to let the lab workers go, and only Mr. Porges remained, who was
Jewish, and who went on one of the first transports. So then my father had no one left there, he
had to do everything himself, and so could at most do fillings, but certainly not some sort of
complicated prosthetic work.

I was helping him out, so | didn't go for any lessons anywhere like other Jewish children did, which |
didn't find out until after the war. Maybe when they then met up and played together, it gave them
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strength. And that they had a bit of fun, even in the worst times there's fun, after all. But | didn't
have any, | was in complete isolation. After | stopped attending school, my girlfriends from school
of course never came by, people were afraid to associate with us. And that's something that | took
very hard. My resistance manifested itself by my going about without a star 13. It made my father
crazy and fearful, unfortunately | never got the chance to apologize to him. It was only later that |
realized what he went through with us children.

Of all the prohibitions, the thing that bothered me the most was that we weren't allowed to go to
school, and that the normal course of things was interrupted. It's not so much about the studies,
but about the fact that you were suddenly deleted from society. You couldn't go to the movies,
nothing. | didn't even mind the shopping, but the fact that | didn't have the possibilities other girls
had. | didn't even have a substitute in another collective.

| remember how once my father arranged a visit - | think that it was somewhere in Dlouha Avenue,
even that the people were named the Aschermanns, but of that I'm not sure - during some
afternoon when people from Jewish families gathered. | went there, but it was completely foreign to
me. | guess | was supposed to get to know someone there, but | was completely... well, | wasn't
able to. Likely some patient of my father's saw me and said, 'Why don't you send your daughter,
we're having a get- together.' | don't know, maybe it was someone's birthday. | don't know, | just
remember that it made me all grouchy, and no one ever got me out anywhere again.

It was also back then during the war that my big complex began, because | said to myself that |
don't belong among Jews, that | simply don't belong. My puberty played a role in this too. | wanted
to be like other people, and it even went as far as me reproaching my father for my first mother
also being Jewish, that | would have at least been only half and half. Later | regretted this terribly.
Well, my father tried, explained, he was never angry with me, and was very calm. He tried to
explain to me that it's not anything bad, and that when the war ends, everything will be different. |
remember him telling me, 'The star you have to wear now, later you'll wear it as a badge of honor,
it'll be like when the legionnaires returned from World War I.' He was deeply mistaken. Deeply. But
thanks to this big complex, which | really felt intensely, | actually saved my own life.

Luckily, during the war my third mother lived with us, Anna Mandova, who married my father just
before the prohibition of mixed marriages, so she put herself at great risk. What's more, her
relatives tried to talk her out of it, understandably from fear for her future existence. She of course
wasn't Jewish, but a Catholic, utterly tolerant. Overall, she was excellent, kind. According to me, a
true angel. She'd loved my father for years; he used to care for her teeth, as a patient. My father
was a very - so in this I'm not like him - handsome man, who didn't at all look Jewish. She was born
on 9th March 1897 in Kolc, near Slany. She worked as a seamstress. She sewed normally, like
people did at home, as well as for the Rosenbaum company. That was this large company where
she apprenticed, and she was the first fabric cutter there. So she was a lady that knew what she
was doing.

At the time when things were getting worse and worse, by then they were writing about my father
in 'Aryan Struggle' - that was this seditious rag - and stars were being worn, he had some patients
that were named the Kristliks, a husband and wife. They were faithful Christians, perhaps Catholics.
They used to invite my father along with that third wife of his to this outdoor café somewhere in
Holesovice, so that he'd be outside, and he'd walk around there with his star covered up, and they
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knew about it and weren't afraid. From Letna to Holesovice, that was actually the same quarter,
and my father was very well-known, so it was a risk.

This couple had such an influence on him that he began to engross himself in the Bible. He read
both the Old and the New Testament, and had the Bible on his nightstand. In those last years it
apparently helped him very much. What exactly he read from it, | don't know, but he needed some
faith, and in that case it doesn't matter which one. It's a question of a spiritual crisis, and he was of
a less stable nature. He was very sensitive, very sociable and on the other hand used to have
depressions. That was all caused by the way of life during that time. | think that in order to last it
out, he needed to believe in something. | don't think that his Christian wives played any role in his
affinity to the Bible. Neither of them was religious, | don't remember them going to church. My
father even had a baptismal certificate, it was issued to me and obviously him too by the priest at
Strossmayer Square. Back then we thought that it would help, but it was of course useless.

But only a handful of people helped Jews. I'm not accusing anyone, I'm stating facts. And when |
then add it up, all that had its role in the fact that those people then had a harder time standing up
to the hardships that followed. Up till then my father had been extremely sociable, he was a
successful dentist and sometimes even lectured about it, and was constantly studying it. So that
he'd constantly get better and better at it, so he devoted himself to it scientifically as well. Now,
suddenly, when everything was supposed to come together and bear fruit, everything collapsed. Of
course, he was marked by the deaths of those two wives of his. My childhood was influenced by
those deaths as well.

Suddenly the fact that we were Jewish was an issue. No one had concerned themselves with it
before. No one had even known that my father was a Jew, he had nothing Jewish in his appearance,
and even the name is Czech. In fact, when he first remarried, he also married a dentist, a non-Jew,
who however looked a bit Jewish, so his patients would say to him, 'Why, Mr. Synek, you've married
a Jewish woman?' Not until right before the occupation, when papers like 'Arijsky boj' [Aryan
Struggle, a magazine put out by the Czech fascist movement Vlakja (Flag)], then we were.
Suddenly my father was 'That Synek Jew.'

At that time we were living under great tension. There was constant tension in our home, because
not once, but several times someone rang at our door - | remember for example one Czech
policeman, who was apparently high- ranking, who walked through our apartment and pointed out
paintings that my father then had to give him. Besides this, we were always afraid of Germans and
of informers, because in the newspaper belonging to the Vlajka movement 14, that was this Czech
fascist rag, there were various denunciatory articles about my father. Like why is it that Mr. Synek
is fixing teeth, and so on. So we lived in fear and tension, and you can say that my father was a
nervous type, and that it of course rubbed off on me.

| turned to books for some sort of consolation, and already back then | was writing these little
verses, | was 13, 14 at the time. | read only poetry. | read prose only a bit. | was very influenced by
literature, maybe even of a somewhat exclusive type, especially for my age, which my brother,
who was five years older, used to give to me. During those times all he was doing was reading, he
was as opposed to me very single-minded and was gathering knowledge. For him it was also
actually his future profession. He concerned himself with words, and so did I, but in a different way.
He was an example for me, but of course we also fought. He used to scare me at night in that


https://www.centropa.org/en/biography/alena-munkova
https://www.centropa.org

Q centropa www.centropa.org/en/biography/alena-munkova

children's room, with lights and so on. So sometimes | hated him. But he influenced my reading,
and with my affinity for poetry | was then this insufficiently realistic person. My thoughts were
influenced by a certain dream factor, the non-acceptance of reality. This conflict was very, very
strong in me.

| was very influenced by what | read, for example already when | was very young | read Pitigrilli
[Segre, Dino (1893 - 1975): pseudonym Pitigrilli, Italian author]. | know that a scene when some
woman was receiving her lover in a coffin had a great effect on me. To this day | don't know what it
was called. I'd really like to read it again. And then there was the famous book by the Italian author
Amicis [Amicis, Edmondo De (1846 - 1908): Italian writer and journalist], 'Heart' it was called, and it
contained stories over which | wept many evenings and nights, because they were terribly sad and
beautiful. I'd like to read that one again too, for one. There was for example one story, 'Sardinian
Drummer,' about how during some war they shot a 12-year-old little boy, who crossed some
terribly high mountains in Italy, | don't know where exactly, to find his mother, who had cancer and
had been transported to the other end of Italy. | was completely kaput from that.

Then | was influenced, for example, by reading classical Czech literature, beginning with Nemcova
15. 1 liked it all, Jirasek for example [Jirasek, Alois (1851 - 1930): Czech writer and dramatist]. To
this day I think that by making him compulsory school reading, they've discredited him. Those
classical authors knew their craft, there's magnificent use of words there. | remember that the only
book that | took with me to Terezin was Macha 16, his 'Maj' [May]. Nothing else. | liked it very
much.

Back then it was in general a little different. In my youth, though after the war already, it was in
fashion to read Dostoevsky 17 and carry the book so that others would see it. Now it's music.
That's about something completely different. Back then that didn't exist at all, when you wanted to
come across as an intellectual, you had to know literature. Right after the end of the war, | was
already reading 'The Castle' by Franz Kafka 18, published by Manes in 1936-1937, and was very
influenced by it, even though | didn't understand it very much.

My father was also a big reader, but certainly not of poetry. He read Pritomnost 19 magazine,
which was edited by Peroutka 20, that was really for intellectual readers. It was a monthly with a
beautiful yellow cover. | remember the way the cover looked to this day. When during the war we
weren't allowed to go out anywhere in the evening, our father used to read to us. Well, there was
no TV. | remember that he was reading the novel 'Katrin vojakem' and 'Katrin svet hori,' which was
about World War I. It was dramatic. He'd read us a bit after supper, and we'd sit quietly. He used to
do that mainly after the death of our second mother, because he was terribly depressed, lonely.

We used to subscribe to a lot of books from the ELC, a modern European literary club. [European
Literary Club: was created in 1935 on the initiative of the publishing businessman Bohumil Janda
(1900 - 1982) and his brother Ladislav Janda (1898 - 1984).] Besides Pritomnost, he also subscribed
to other papers, Rozvoj, which was a paper that belonged to the Czech-Jew Association. We used to
get those papers, but | didn't read them, not Pritomnost either. | wasn't at all interested in that,
because they were political, and let's say partially philosophical and cultural articles.

During the war
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In 1942 my brother got a summons to the transport. Alone of course, because our father was
protected by his marriage to a non-Jew. But he didn't get on, and left a letter that he'd committed
suicide. Then very uncomfortable situations followed, because we were in contact with him and |
was the connection. Either | or my stepmother would bring him things that he needed. It was so
terribly risky. Everything was full of fear and risks. | think that that atmosphere of fear molded me
for the remainder of my life. From that time I've never been far from states of anxiety. | don't want
to say depressions, that's a strong word. They were more like states of anxiety. Fear of the
unknown.

Later | realized that it predestined me to this, basically constant, mild misunderstanding with the
world as such. To questions why | am, why do | do this and why do people do that. It's this feeling
that | can't communicate what I'm feeling anyways. Basically not to anybody. And that | have to
come to terms with that constant misunderstanding.

I've got this incident, completely abstract, just to explain it more closely. In that apartment on
Letna, where | lived, to get to the room where | slept, you had to cross from this large room where
we used to have supper, through this quite large front hall. The light switch for that hallway was
completely on the other side. So that | had to cross it in darkness. To this day I've still got an
intense memory of sitting there and being unable to go to bed. No one knew about it, | of course
didn't tell my father about it. | remember that | exerted all my energy, or strength - it's more of a
symbol, what I'm saying now - to walk through that dark hall. When | entered the children's room
and turned on the light, | was completely exhausted. | think that this extreme exhaustion from that
journey, which today in my reminiscences is so short, but back then seemed unimaginably long to
me, is a symbol of my entire life.

This fear-filled period lasted up to December 1942, when | myself was summoned to the transport.
That's when | saw my father for the last time, he had completely collapsed, because there was
nothing he could do. Even before that he had been living under terrible tension, in terrible fear, and
then suddenly... For him | was a little girl, even though | wasn't all that little any more. Certainly he
also blamed himself for everything. Because he was so extremely just, so absolutely humanistically
inclined and he idealized the world - even though back then it was still possible, today | don't
idealize it anymore, and | don't think I'm alone - that he still believed that it wasn't possible for
Czechoslovakia to be gone and for the Czechoslovak state to not care for its citizens.

There was this one incident that took place, that after the Anschluss 21, after the annexation of
Austria, some distant cousin of his arrived in Prague, who was then continuing further on. He was
at our place, and telling us about the horrors that were taking place there. Well, and when that
cousin left, my father said, 'That's not possible. He must be crazy, he needs to go to a mental
institution.' He didn't believe it, he didn't want to believe it. He wasn't alone in that, it must have
been utterly horrible for those people back then, that powerlessness. What's more, back then a
man was still the head of the family, who takes care of his family members. That has changed a bit,
after all.

You see, before the war | had had the possibility of emigrating, but my father didn't let me go.
When | was very small, when that first mother of mine was ill, | had had a nanny, Miss Saskova.
This Miss Saskova, that was around 1939, left for England to work as a nanny for some family, also
some dentist. She apparently liked me in some fashion, and so came to see my father, that she
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could take me with her and that I'd learn a trade there. My father said that it was out of the
question.

| remember that even later there was always talk of emigration around us, but we didn't have any
contacts, it was said that certain Jewish families had a lot of money and information, so they had at
least some possibility of emigrating. Often it was a question of money. | don't know anything exact
about it, just that very few people got an affidavit. They may have had one promised, for example,
but then it never happened. | know that the Petchka family was terribly rich. They even transported
out all of their employees, an entire train. But I'm convinced that even if someone had offered my
father something, he'd have turned him down.

We for example didn't even know about Winton's 22 activities, how he transported out Jewish
children. We didn't find out about it at all. It's true that we weren't in very close contact with the
Prague Jewish community. But maybe it wasn't just because of that. We were recorded there. Jews,
for example, used to get summons, while they were still in Prague, for the clearing away of snow.
Well, that we used to get every little while. My father and brother. That was so humiliating, you'd
be shoveling snow, wearing a star, and on top of that people would be yelling things at you. It was
always terribly difficult to get out of it. It was a so-called compulsory labor. So we were in the
records.

| expected the transport, | knew that it would come, and was afraid. When | then got the summons,
| knew that | had to go, that | couldn't do what my brother had done. For a week before they took
us away, we were in a so- called quarantine at Veletrzni Palace [The Trade Fair Palace, a Modernist
1920s exhibition hall]. | knew that my father was only a few buildings over, but with that star he
couldn't even come see me. But he sent someone, because through some guard | got a box of
candy with a letter.

The conditions were quite bad for us in the Veletrzni Palace. | ended up with a fever from it all. At
that time an excellent person took care of me there, Gustav Schorsch, who unfortunately never
returned. By complete chance, he had the number next to mine. The transport was named 'Ck,'
and | had number 333; | guess the threes were 'lucky.' When you entered the quarantine, there
were mattresses arranged there according to those numbers. Schorsch saw me there, that | was
alone and crying. He helped me very much during that week before they transported us away, and
also the whole time in Terezin, until they sent him further on.

When he knew that | was sick, or that something was wrong, he'd always come to check on me. He
used to put on plays there, gave lectures, and in general was culturally active. He was a lot older
than | was, nine years. He'd already graduated from high school, and as a student had already
acted on the stage. He was the founder of Theater 99 on Narodni Avenue. He was an exceptional
stage talent.

After the war a book about him came out, 'Nevyuctovan zustava zivot.' After the revolution 23, in
the 1990s, | among other things also wrote a script about him. The film exists, and was shown on
TV. Unfortunately | was only able to use interviews with other people, his photographs exist, but
there was little authentic material, except for some plays he'd dramatized. They've even been put
on at the National Theater. He was an exceptional person, a lot of people reminisced about him, his
former classmates and so on.
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| don't exactly know what went on with my father after my departure. | think that someone there
helped him, that someone from those Letna residents, either from his former patients or the
businessmen there, used to go to see him. All the business owners there knew each other. | think
that my father must have had contact with someone, because during that year that | was in
Terezin, he managed to smuggle through a letter, apparently via the Czech policemen that
guarded us in Terezin. I've got it hidden away to this day. It's beautiful, full of hints. He wrote 'Jirina
is all right,' that was my brother, Jirka. Contact with my brother was then apparently maintained by
our stepmother. But both she and my father were arrested about a year after me. He had the
dental practice right up to his arrest. Then there was apparently some German there, because after
the war all the equipment was still there. When we returned, my stepmother rented it out via a so-
called widow's law.

In Terezin | wasn't all alone anymore, some sort of society formed there. The people there were in
the same situation. When | arrived there, we were in the so-called shloiska, which is a quarantine.
[Editor's note: the Hamburg barracks, so-called shloiska, likely from the German 'Schleuse':
women's accommodations, and from 1943 especially for Dutch prisoners. At the same time the
main transport dispatch location.] We had to report there, and precisely because of the horrible
complex of mine that | was something different, | reported that | was a half-breed. | had no idea
that this had been the first transport that had contained half-breeds, otherwise | would have been
found out, and | wouldn't be sitting here now. It was a completely irrational thing. It seems like I've
made it up, but that's really how it was.

After some time in Terezin | was put in the children's home. There were children from about 11 or
12 upwards there, up to about 15 or 16, | think. | don't know exactly. | was among the oldest ones
there. Younger children were with their parents. For example, my husband, who's younger than I,
was with his mother. Children that had arrived in Terezin with their parents were also in the
children's home; | was more of an exception, | mean that | had arrived alone. But my uncle, my
father's brother, was already there. He was lying there in this hospital room where people with
tuberculosis were. | used to go see him occasionally. My father's father was in Terezin at that time.
He died very early on, and then my uncle as well. That was in 1943. | didn't have any other
relatives there.

In Terezin | became friends with Vera, back then Bendova, who was also a half-breed, but a real
one. We were bunkmates - there were triple bunk beds, and we slept up on the top bunk together.
She was the only one who knew the truth about me; | had to tell someone what the case was with
me. Always, when | was summoned - half-breeds used to be summoned to the headquarters -
neither of us slept. We're of course in touch to this day. She lives in Olten, Switzerland, where |
went to visit her after the revolution.

As a half-breed | was allowed to stay in Terezin; it protected me from further transport. And my
best friend as well. Of the people in our room - we lived in No. 29 in L410 - mostly everyone else
were transported further on. And some returned after the war, and some didn't. Plus when
Brundibar 24 was being put on there, new children had to be recruited to replace the ones that had
been transported away. | myself never played in Brundibar, as | never knew how to sing.

We then tried to put on a play by Klicpera with Schorsch. But mainly | wrote. These trifles, various
poems. Mostly they involved reminiscences, for example about a girlfriend that had remained in
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Prague, or laments over what | had lost. There were all these sentimental things, with tendencies
towards romantic expressions. Not long ago there was a reunion of girls from Terezin, and they
said, 'Listen, we were always thinking about food, and you were writing poems. We used to say to
ourselves that you aren't normal.’

| of course also experienced love in Terezin. And not just once. | think that | fell in love there at
least five times. | never counted the times, and | always also soon got over it. It never lasted very
long for me, which was still the case long after the war. | perhaps stuck out a bit in Terezin; | was
completely blond and blue-eyed. Maybe it also says something about that period, it was sometimes
for only a couple of days, but intense.

However, there were one or two stronger relationships. Not one of them returned. One was named
Jiri Kummermann. That boy, though he was 17, was already composing. I've still got some notes,
some fragments, hidden away to this day. His mother, a former dancer, was also there; she didn't
return either. Because | knew that I'd probably stay in Terezin, | had some of his notes with me. But
after the war | gave them to his relatives. | guess that the relationship was quite intensive, because
long after 1945 | still thought that he might appear.

Then there was Karel Stadler, who | knew from Prague, because he was a friend of my brother's. An
exceptionally educated boy. He was about four, five years older, while the musician was the same
age as |. So | was impressed by him, and felt embarrassed, that | was completely dumb compared
to him. I wasn't the only one to fall in love there. Of course, during the day we couldn't see each
other much, but curfew wasn't until after 8pm, so we could still be outside in the evening.

Terezin was an amazing education for me. First of all, | wouldn't be the person | am now, but that's
normal. But mainly | was introduced to values there that | would never have had the chance to
know. For example what friendship can do for a person, but not only that. How important the
influence of art is. There, the people that had come to Terezin, and they were professors, artists, all
of them truly tried to convey what they knew. There's no way that could happen in a normal
situation. In Terezin everything was extreme, it wasn't a normal situation there. That's of course
hindsight, back then | couldn't have realized it.

We lived through extreme situations there. For one, there was the fear of further transport. No one
knew when he'd have to leave, and where to. Even though no one of our generation of course
wanted to at all allow the fact that it could be the end. AlImost to the end of the war, | didn't know
that the gas chambers existed. That was because | was in Terezin. Maybe someone there knew it,
but | think that most of them didn't. Not until 1945, when people were returning.

Understandably, we also had fun in Terezin. And those love affairs. Everything was experienced
intensely, because there you couldn't count on having time. | think that whether you're an
adolescent, or 20 or even 50 years old, that's a very unusual situation. There you didn't at all have
the feeling that time was uselessly running between your fingers. The intensity of the time was also
given by the fact that we were hungry. Everything was intense. | never experienced such intensity
before, or since then. Everything that those children were doing there, either they were drawing
something, or writing, was full-on. The entire leadership tried to do as much as possible for them.
Because in their view the only ones that had a chance of survival were the children, or the young
people. In the end it wasn't like that, but even so, they tried.


https://www.centropa.org/en/biography/alena-munkova
https://www.centropa.org

Q centropa www.centropa.org/en/biography/alena-munkova

| don't know if some country, or some group, some small nation, does in a normal situation as
much as was done back then in those extreme times in Terezin. Back then, everything was at
stake. It was also necessary to help the adults as well as the young people, to make them aware of
the fact that they have to watch themselves so that they won't decline morally. All that was terribly
important. You had to preserve the feeling that you're not in some hole.

The question, why did | return and not someone else, this feeling of guilt, we've probably all got it.
That's been reflected upon many times already. | of course don't have an answer to it, and you
can't even feel guilty. But | think that the percentage of those best ones that didn't return is very
high. You also don't know what those children would have become. Certainly there were many
talented people there, and with that experience, that intensity that I've talked about, everything
was amplified even more.

What do the people that survived have in common? | don't have a definite answer to that. | think
that the majority of the people that returned are today much more tolerant than people without
this experience. But it of course also depended on what sort of way of life you ended up in. That
also molded you. If you remained completely alone, or if at least a bit of your family remained. Its
way of thinking and intellectual position. Life itself.

There are all sorts of people. Lots of them moved away as well, and those, when they come here,
are also completely different. But there is something there, some sort of common fate. Not that
we're extremely close, but there is something there that | can easily and immediately identify with.
With someone who didn't go through it, I'd have to do a huge amount of explaining to give them an
idea what it's about. Here | don't have to. There's no doubt that we have a common experience,
which binds us. It's hard to say, maybe we're connected by some sort of reappraisal of values. A
larger degree of tolerance, that for sure.

Of course, there are some individuals that don't fit the pattern, but even now, when | meet with
people, it's clear to me from the first moment who is a survivor. | also think, though maybe I'm
fooling myself, that those that survived won't succumb to concerning themselves only with
economic matters. | think that they're a little less susceptible to the influence of today's way of life.
That they're a little more themselves. There is, after all, something there, some experience that
sets them apart. If | was to summarize what my stay in the concentration camp took from me, it
took my past. That severing of the past, that's something | have to come to terms with.

We were terribly looking forward to returning home. But of course there was no place to return to. |
suddenly didn't know what to do. How to live, why at all, and mainly there was no one to turn to for
advice. My brother, who also survived, didn't pay much attention to me, he had enough of his own
cares and worries. He was running all over the place, they were already starting up a newspaper
and he was given an important editorial position, head of the cultural section. They got what was
then a German paper, Mlada Fronta 25, and he was basically a founder. He was 23, and J. Horec,
later the editor-in-chief, was | think 24. [Horec, Jaromir (b. 1921): popular Czech poet, writer,
journalist and publicist] He had absolutely no time for me. | remember that back then after | had
returned, | went to report to something like the people's committee of the time, | don't know what
it was called anymore, because | needed identification. There they gave me two pieces of
underwear, panties and some sort of nightie, and about five handkerchiefs.
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My father didn't survive the war, he died in 1944 in Auschwitz. I've got two dates. One is in
February, the other is in May, no one knows for sure. They arrested him in the fall of 1943, he
passed through Karlovo namesti [Charles Square], where he was interrogated, through the Small
Fortress 26 to Auschwitz; he didn't go on a normal transport. He was most likely arrested because
of my brother. My stepmother was also arrested, but she returned after the war. But she also didn't
know why they actually arrested them. It's quite likely that they were denounced by someone. She
passed through the Ravensbriick 27 and Barth concentration camps. [Barth: camp that fell under
the Ravensbruck concentration camp] She didn't return until somewhat later, not until the end of
June 1945, and was seriously ill.

Post-war

After the war, | supported my mother as much as possible; after all, it was thanks to her that |
saved my life, because they didn't know that she wasn't my true mother. If that would have been
uncovered, it would have been the end. She died when she was 85, that would be sometime in
1983, because she was born in 1898. She was hit by a streetcar; she became disoriented and the
streetcar hit her in the head.

By the way, I've found out that in the Pinkas synagogue, where the names of the dead from the
concentration camps are, there is also my brother's name. [Editor's note: during the years 1992 -
1996, 80,000 names of Czech and Moravian Jewish who had died at the hands of the Nazis were
written by hand on the walls of the synagogue.] Like as if he was dead. As I've said, when he got
the summons to the transport, he left behind a letter that he'd committed suicide, and
disappeared. In the register he's listed as being dead. Well, there's nothing we can do about it now,
it's there. According to one tradition, that mean's he'll live a long life.

Other mistakes occurred as well. For example, my father was arrested, he didn't go by transport,
but nevertheless also ended up in a concentration camp, and didn't return. But he's not in the
Terezin book. [Editor's note: the Terezin Memorial Book contains the names of Jewish victims of
Nazi deportations from Bohemia and Moravia during the years 1941 - 1945.] | don't know if his
name was added later, | haven't tried to find out. | told Mr. Karny, who put that book together with
his wife, that he's not in there, but that he also died in Auschwitz. There are other similar cases,
people that didn't go via the normal transports, but were arrested or disappeared like my brother.

At first | lived with my brother, who got an apartment on Letna, and then, when my stepmother
returned, we moved into the apartment where the dental clinic had been. But nothing except for
the dental equipment remained there. Back then, when | returned from Terezin, | was, above all,
hungry. My mother had relatives here, a sister who was very kind, and | used to go to their place in
Smichov for lunch. They fed me from what they had for themselves. It seems strange, but | don't
think that there was any sort of organization to take care of those people that had returned. It
never occurred to me at all to go to the Jewish community. Maybe | should have gone there, they
would definitely have given me advice. After all, there was some assistance here, as | found out
later, from America 28. Some applications for compensation were being submitted. Well, | didn't
know anything about it, and got nothing. Not until now, after the revolution, that which everyone
has.
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For about the first two years, until | got my bearings, | really didn't know how | should behave. |
knew that you should say hello to people, and what | should say when | enter a shop, but | couldn't
at all grasp other people's way of thinking. They were all foreign to me. | had no idea how they
thought, why for example they would do something they did. | always wanted to know the reasons
for people's behavior.

For example, my aunt, the one that had divorced my uncle because of that publishing house,
wasn't Jewish and survived the war. After the war she was in charge of the bookshop that belonged
to that publishing house. She offered me a job selling books there. So | worked there for some time.
Then she told me, 'Your waist isn't slim enough, I'll buy you a corset.' | couldn't grasp it at all. Why |
should be selling books there, and why she was going to buy it for me. | should have asked her,
why would you buy this or that for me, or why should | be selling books here? I'm sure she would
have explained it to me. But | didn't ask her.

Or another example. There were some girls from Terezin on Letna, and they pulled me into the
Youth Union 29. Again, | used to go there, and didn't at all know why | was even there. There were
many things that | didn't get back then, not until | met a girl my own age, whose father was a
dentist, a colleague of my father's. Dr. Vanecek. He invited me over to their place, and gave me
money. That Vera was the only one to say, 'You've got to go to school.' If it hadn't been for her, |
would have said to hell with everything. But even she had to explain to me why | had to go to
school, and even so | didn't completely understand. Maybe | was completely neglected, or maybe
more likely, lonely. | think that it was due to loneliness. And yet later in life, | was a sociable person
and not an introvert. But all too late. But back then | was definitely a complete introvert. | think it's
a consequence of that what I've talked about, that severing of bonds with the past.

Luckily, several relatives gradually appeared who also helped me. For example my first mother's
cousin, who had a list of people whom Anna, my first mother's sister, had hidden things with. He
made the rounds of those people with me, who for the most part didn't want to return anything. |
experienced this very unpleasant situation, when they'd say, 'Oh my, you've returned!' | don't even
feel like talking about it. What's more, that's common knowledge. As far as school goes, they
explained to me that | had to arrange a stipend. From a financial standpoint, our life after the war
was very bad indeed. In the end | was only able to finish my studies thanks to that stipend, which |
got as a war orphan. Back then | was being paid by the War Reparations Office. | think that it was in
Karlin [a Prague city quarter]. Without that money, | wouldn't even have had money for a slice of
bread.

My brother had managed to graduate from Jirasek High School before the war, and after the war he
registered at the Faculty of Philosophy. In 1947 he was sent by the then Ministry of Culture to Paris,
where he published a weekly about Central Europe named 'Parallele Cinquante,' Fiftieth Parallel. He
was supposed to return right after February 30, he was there for one year. But he emigrated and
remained abroad. But he was here secretly, and thanks to my boyfriend at the time, the artist Jiri
Hejna, whom | was with for a long time, we changed the stamp on his passport with the use of
some plaster. So he got out once February had already passed.

| began attending university in the spring of 1946, when it was actually first being reopened. |
picked the Faculty of Journalism at the University of Political and Social Sciences. It was composed
of three faculties: political, social and journalistic. This school was also intended for future
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diplomats, that is, the political and social faculties, not the journalistic one. Already as an
adolescent | had written poems, and during the war as well. Besides movement, dance, my
strongest interest was literature, so that meant that it had to be some school where you worked
with words. | imagined that afterwards | could perhaps live in some foreign city and be a
correspondent. In Paris, for example. Stupid me. The faculty of journalism was something new. I've
got this impression that it didn't exist during the First Republic, but I'm not sure. It was probably
possible to study journalism someplace else, that | don't exactly know. But for me it was a novelty.
Plus | knew that there they wouldn't require me to know Latin. | was afraid that even in that Faculty
of Philosophy, I'd feel the lack Latin, or perhaps Greek.

I actually finished my high school as part of that faculty. Back then that was possible. This school
had a solely practical focus. There was a lot of economics and law, something from all fields. | don't
know if that was good, but to me it seemed a lot more doable, because | was missing entire years
of education. | thought that | had a better chance of managing it. There was no problem getting
into the faculty, everyone that registered could attend. Back then older people registered too, who
for example hadn't been able to study during the war. But there was a lot of filtering out. Few
people finished all four years plus a thesis. Those people perhaps went for a more practical life, or
they didn't like it.

| was finished in the winter of 1949. The biggest problems didn't start cropping up until 1950. |
don't remember exactly how the professors were being replaced. Those of them that were
orthodox Marxists of course began to work their way up. For example Ladislav Stoll, who was then
very orthodox and | think that he ruined a lot of people's lives. [Stoll, Ladislav (1902 - 1981): Czech
Marxist critic] He was a big ideologue in the sphere of culture. He was influential in all areas of
culture, and I'm sure that he also collaborated with various ministries, and so on. On the other
hand, several professors emigrated. For example Professor Machotka left for America. [Machotka,
Otakar (1899 - 1970): Czech sociologist]

Originally it had been interesting at that faculty, four political parties were represented equally
amongst the professors. So that it would be balanced. Then of course the hammer fell, and those
people started leaving, Social Democrats and so on. There was also a lady there that taught social
manners, who was later jailed for many years. We used to call her Alca Palca, but her name was
Palkoskova. She was from this very rich Prague family. We used to make fun of that social manners
class, but she was right, unfortunately social manners have fallen by the wayside. People today
don't know how to behave. For psychology there was Prof. Tardy, | don't remember his first name
anymore. He immigrated to Switzerland. What's strange is that they gave us an 'Ing.' degree,
meaning that I'm an engineer. That's because we had economics, but that's nonsense, they were
following the Soviet model.

After finishing school, in 1950 | started working in feature films at Barrandov [a famous film studio
in Prague], where they wanted students, in the so-called lectorate. It was this first sieve, where
themes were sent. There were about five of us there. Anyways, I'm amazed that they gave me a
job there. But | had an excellent boss there, I've never had one like that since. He taught me a lot,
how would | put it, about literary creations for film. He was named Ing. Karel Smrz, in general a film
pioneer, from back during the First Republic, a founder of Czech film. [Smrz, Karel (1897 - 1953):
Czech film historian, publicist and dramaturge]
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There | became friends with, among others, Hana Zantovska, a translator and excellent lady, who
died two years ago. [Zantovska, Hana (1921 - 2004): translator, poet and writer] She was an expert
translator from English, and a poet. During that time | also got to know many other people, luckily
that circle included people like the author Josef Jedlicka [Jedlicka, Josef (1927 - 1990): Czech writer
of prose and essayist], Jan Zabrana [Zabrana, Jan (1931 - 1984): Czech poet and translator] or the
painter Mikulas Medek [Medek, Mikulas (1926 - 1974): Czech painter]. Thanks to these people, | got
out of that isolation | was in after my return. It was really good, and some friendships have also
lasted until today. For example the writer Jaroslav Putik [Putik, Jaroslav (b. 1923): Czech writer of
prose], we see each other, the philosopher Ivan Dubsky [Dubsky, Ivan (b. 1926): Czech
philosopher] is also a friend of mine from that time. Some have unfortunately already died. But
thanks to all these people, | finally began to really live.

I'd only been at the lectorate for about a year and a half, when they threw me out. The 1950s were
beginning, and when they threw me out for being unreliable - at the time it was Jiri Hajek [Hajek, Jiri
(1919 - 1994): Czech literary and theater critic], who was later in charge of Plamen [Plamen;
monthly literary magazine. Jiri Hajek was the magazine's editor-in- chief from1959 - 1968], not the
minister, but the literary critic, a very passionate one - the reason they gave me was that they
didn't have anything against me personally, but that | was unreliable because | was Jewish.

At that time | really had no money at all, and that stepmother of mine was so badly off that my
friends, the Jedlickas, supported me. They used to give me money, though Manka Jedlickova was
still finishing medicine, and Josef Jedlicka, who was at the Faculty of Philosophy, was kicked out
when they were doing background checks. He was the first one that they did a show trial with. He
was accused of being a Trotskyist.

There are so many people of this type that | used to associate with at that time, that | won't even
name them all to you. They were excellent. | was even asked to write about them, but | don't want
to write anything like that, because I'm not sure whether my memory is good enough. If | can't
write something exact, | won't write anything. | can write about some impressions, I've got
something filed away, but | wouldn't want to change history due to my faulty memory. That's
something that | can't stand.

The 1950s were hard. The Slansky trials 31, and then | also had big problems because of my
brother, who had remained abroad. | had no idea what sort of interminable problems would result
from that. | was repeatedly interrogated because of it. | remember that when they came for me, |
had no idea what was going on. At that time | began to again experience these unpleasant,
depressive states. Fear of the future. | began to be afraid. | experienced a very strong sense of
fear, even though that shouldn't happen in one's youth. My conflicts were never caused by my own
behavior.

| myself didn't want to emigrate. | was in Paris in 1948, but | didn't want to stay there. Maybe under
different circumstances. It was complicated, and | also thought that I'd be able to leave again. No
one was able to imagine - maybe someone older, who was also based in politics, but back then |
was still very naive - that | wouldn't be able to go there again in another couple of years, say.

It wasn't until later, in 1968, when we had a three year old daughter, did | think about emigration,
but my husband was afraid of it. One of the reasons was that nowhere is there as beautiful a city as
Prague. So dramatic, in an architectural sense. Because my husband is an architect. For my part, |
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wasn't able to imagine not using Czech. Not as my livelihood, but that which | had inclinations
toward, to that miscommunication, would be even worse. Not that | wouldn't learn the language, at
that time | could more or less speak English, that | would have learned. German for sure. But | think
that the loss of your mother tongue is terrible. And not only for people that work with it. A few
years ago, my brother gave some lectures here at the Faculty of Philosophy, where he said that
emigrants, because they couldn't speak the language properly, had to being making a living with
images. In television. That was a very interesting notion.

My brother originally lived in Paris with his girlfriend, who had helped him hide from the Gestapo
during the war. A lot of people helped him back then. And some of them also paid for it by being
arrested. But he broke up with her after some time. Later he met a young lady from Porto there,
from Portugal. That was his first wife, she was named Julieta and they had twins together. When
there was the danger of revolution in France, they left for Portugal together. There we met for the
first time in 20 years, in 1968 32, during the Novotny 33 period. At that time | was allowed to go
there.

He lives in Lisbon now, he learned Portuguese the same as French back then, because he's got
quite a talent for languages. In Portugal, besides giving lectures in Slavic Studies, he was then at a
theater and film school, and was also the director of the National Theater in Lisbon. He published
one book after another, and to this day directs operas, all sorts of things. Despite already being
quite old, he's so terribly active, that | think that when he once stops, he'll immediately die. He
probably can't be without it. When you look at it objectively, he's exceptionally educated,
exceptionally hard-working, exceptionally capable and exceptionally egocentric. How else would he
have accomplished what he's accomplished? That's a case of extreme egocentricity that is
concentrated on its work.

Already even before he emigrated, he'd had five books published here, then abroad as well, and
now again after the revolution. He never returned here [permanently] from abroad, he wouldn't be
able to live here. But he occasionally comes to visit. He collaborates with local theaters as a
director and advisor, and his books of poetry and prose are published in the Czech Republic. After
the war he got an award from President E. Benes 34 for illegal activities, and in the 1990s he got
an award from President V. Havel 35 for propagating our culture abroad.

That extreme egocentricity of his bothers me a lot, but in my old age I've realized that that's the
key to him. He's not alone. It's not possible for people who have accomplished something to be
different. For them their work is the center of the universe, and everyone else is there to serve
them. He was always a strong personality, which I've never been. He never had to walk through
that dark hallway. He really is exceptionally educated and clever, and looks great. He had several
women - all Portuguese, mostly from his field - and several children. He's got six children of his
own, and two by marriage. His youngest child is nine, and my brother will be 85 this November. Not
one of his wives was of Jewish origin. He doesn't deny that he's Jewish in any fashion, but neither
does he show it off. He never lived in a Jewish manner, not one little bit. We weren't brought up
that way.

For a long time after being fired from Barrandov, about two years, | couldn't find a job; they
wouldn't even vet me for working in a factory. Those were hard times, but | survived it all, and
finally | ended up back in film. Prior to that | worked for some time for the Nase Vojsko [Our Army]
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publishing house, but when my background was again exposed, | again had to leave.

| returned to film sometime in 1954 with the help of a classmate of mine from the faculty, because
she was Z. Nejedly's secretary. [Nejedly, Zdenek (1878 - 1962): Czech historian, musicologist and
critic, publicist and politician] Basically it couldn't happen normally. At first | worked in the film
library. That was on Klimentska Street, but it belonged under Central Czech Film. There | put
together these yearbooks. What had been done, what films had been made, and so on. It of course
bored me immensely. But then | got into the press department of the Central Film Lending Office
on Narodni Avenue. And in 1963 | left there to do dramaturgy for animated and puppet films.

In the beginning we were located at Klarov, where the metro [station] is now. There was a pavilion
there, which they tore down. Then we were at Barrandov. | stayed there until the end, until |
retired, and enjoyed it very much. | also worked past retirement quite a while. | think that I retired
the year of the revolution, when | was already 63. But even after that | would occasionally do
something there. | worked in dramaturgy, and then also began to write things for children. There
you could after all do lots of things, it wasn't under such strict political surveillance, even though
we also had problems. | even got some sort of reprimand, because we adapted some text by
Skvorecky into animated form. [Skvorecky, Josef (b 1924): Czech writer of prose, essayist and
translator] He was also one of my friends, by the way.

| was married twice. My first husband was named Josef Till, an architect. He was born in 1924. |
don't even know any more how we met. We were married in 1955, and | was with him for four
years. We had no children. My first husband was good and kind, but drank. That was the main
reason for our divorce. He's still alive, and we still have a good relationship. What's interesting is
that his mother was a Russian woman that his father had brought home with him as a legionnaire
during World War I. | didn't realize until afterwards that there's always this affinity to people that
aren't completely normal, the same as | was never completely normal. | was Jewish and he was half
Russian. In the beginning you don't even know it, you don't find out until later, that he's also
different.

When | married for a second time in 1963, | married a Jew. But again | didn't know back then that
he'd lived through what | had. It didn't occur to me that he could also be a Jew, he doesn't look it at
all. But | think that the common experience then probably connected us. Those feelings of
alienation that accompany a person, we didn't have to explain that to each other. We understood
each other.

My second husband is named Jiri Munk. He's younger than | am, he was born in Brandys nad Labem
on 2nd November 1932. We met through my first husband, they worked together. His father was
Adolf Munk, a lawyer, and his mother was named Olga, née Nachodova. She was also from a
lawyer's family, the practice apparently belonged to her father, but | don't know that for certain. |
do know that she had a sister, and when they somehow lost their mother early on, some aunt
brought them up. | think that perhaps they observed some of the High Holidays there in Brandys.

My husband's family could have emigrated too; | think that they applied for an affidavit and were
supposed to go to Rhodesia, to southern Africa. | think it's maybe called Zimbabwe these days. His
grandfather was a farmer, very successful; though he was a Jew, he was successful in pig farming.
He was an expert that was known far and wide. As far as | know, at that time Rhodesia was the
only country accepting people, and they were accepting only farmers. You also had to have some
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money. | think that they did send some money, quite a large sum, and the Germans confiscated it
for the so- called emigrant fund. They said that they'd use that money to move the Jews to
Madagascar, and the Czechs to Patagonia. The few people that did emigrate were rich, they had
information and some contacts.

| think that they went to Terezin on the Hradec Kralove transport sometime in January 1943, a
month after me. My husband's father was shutting down the local Jewish community in Brandys,
and taking care of everything, so everyone in the family went into the transport a month later than
other people in Brandys. Which was also lucky for them, because the previous transport, the one
that everyone from Brandys left on, kept going onwards, to Poland. | dare say that almost no one
from that one returned.

In Terezin, little children lived with their mothers, and older ones with their fathers. My husband's
mother worked with mica in war manufacture, which is why she remained in Terezin and thus
protected her youngest child, my husband. My husband's father unfortunately went onwards from
Terezin along with my husband's brother, Viktor. His father didn't return, he died in Auschwitz.
Viktor did, but was in terrible shape. Alas, he died a few years ago.

My husband's sister, Helena, got married in Terezin during the war - that had to be renewed in
some fashion after the war - and this marriage saved her life. Her husband, Rudolf Kovanic, was on
one of the first transports; they put the ghetto together, and were then protected. At the end of the
war, several dozen young married couples were picked out, who were exchanged into Switzerland.
There they shut them up in another camp. They were of course allowed out only once the war was
over, some vehicle from what was then Czechoslovakia came for them.

My husband's brother, Viktor, had an exceptional talent for art. He studied at UMPRUM [Academy of
Arts, Architecture and Design in Prague] or at another art school. But some sort of student revolt
took place there. Everyone took it back, except for him, and from that time he isolated himself and
despite being very talented, all he did was make some sort of stickers here near Prague. Not until
years later, only after his death - he died of skin cancer - did | succeed in putting on a big exhibition
of his work, in the Spanish Synagogue. He was really a fantastic painter. The exhibition got a lot of
publicity. They wrote about it in 'Revolver Revue' 36, for example. But while he was still alive, he
didn't want to allow any exhibitions, nor to sell anything. He gave his pictures to his siblings, on
various occasions. We've got a few of them at home. He married very late in life because he was ill
for a long time. His wife was named Jitka. They lived by Karlovy Vary 37, where he did all sorts of
work, but then packaged trumpets. He didn't live in any particularly religious fashion.

My husband was also talented, in his case it was musically. Already in Grade One they were
attempting to convince his parents to do something with it. But even though his mother returned
from the concentration camp, she had never been on her own, and suddenly here she was, alone
with her children; she was incapable of doing anything, though she was around 50. It was horrible.
My husband graduated from architecture, the same as my first husband. As a joke, | say that |
stayed with that profession. For years he worked as an architect, but now he doesn't want to
anymore. He was an expert on chain stores, and wrote a book about it. He mainly wanted to
concern himself with historical buildings, but he never got to. At that time there was actually no
real architecture being done, it was Socialist Realism. Now, after the revolution, when he could
have started, it was so corrupt that he wouldn't have lasted. Bribes, everything is based on bribes.
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| remember 1989 very well. It was freezing cold, and | was going with [people from] Barrandov,
with animated film, to Wenceslaus Square with keys. [Editor's note: during the Velvet Revolution,
people symbolically expressed their dissatisfaction with the Communist regime by jingling their
keys during demonstrations.] We were naive, absolutely naive. We didn't realize that people can't
change. The people remained the same. | soon got over my enthusiasm. It declined, but it of
course had to decline, because as far as morality goes, it had been declining since 1939. There was
no other option, that moral downhill coast is long-term.

After the revolution, we had problems with restitutions. In 1948, | was supposed to have part of an
inheritance left by Bohumil Sinek, the brother of my grandfather Adolf Synek. Many relatives didn't
survive the war, and some that emigrated gave up their inheritances. At that time after the war, we
agreed to put it in my cousin Milena's name because of inheritance tax, as she was the only one
that was a minor, and didn't have to pay the tax. | myself didn't have any money to pay the tax.
But after the revolution, she claimed the entire building - and it's a large property, a large building
at 11 Bilkova Street, four stories, with a store below -in the restitutions.

It wasn't an issue of thousands, but many millions. | of course have no withess to our agreement.
So now at least | don't have to worry what to do with the money. I'm not the type of person that
knows how to handle it. The devil take it. But | did then send her a message that she's the one
that's going to have to live with her conscience. My brother could of course have sued her, but he
was abroad after the war, and hadn't given anything up, but he also said the hell with it. But it's
something that | can't understand, as far as morality goes.

My husband and | had only one child, our daughter Hana. She was born on 24th June 1965. So she
had an old mommy. For a long time, | didn't want children, but they talked me into it. She studied
physical education at the Faculty of Education. She had to take Russian as her minor, and when the
revolution took place, everyone said to hell with it. People say they don't like Russian, but that's
stupid. Once day it'll be needed. She then finished psychology at the Faculty of Philosophy, but
educational, not the clinical kind. Well, it's basically useless. She finished school, and is trying to
live as a freelancer, but it's a problem.

She made a film, about this forgotten figure from the First Republic, the artist Robert Guttmann
[Guttmann, Robert (1880 - 1942): a noted Prague painter and Zionist; died in the Lodz ghetto]. She
found some paintings and something about him, there was a fair bit of it, and though she also
directed it and didn't have any experience, it wasn't bad. She also wrote a nice script about Uncle
Viktor, because there's a lot of information about him too. What's more, they also did an interview
with him so there's also text. But it needed support from the state cinematography fund. We tried
to get it three times, but to no end.

She also did some book covers - they were quite inventive - but in general it's bad, she doesn't
have too many possibilities. She's not in some team, and it's impossible to do on your own. Among
other things, she recently turned 40, and that's old already. She tried to find work, but that's out of
the question. Why would they take her, when they can take a 20-year-old, whom they'll give half
the salary? She could go teach immediately. But she said that she'd rather be homeless than be a
teacher.

She has no children, but has a dog that she loves very much. | don't think that she is even able to
have kids. She's very sociable, and looks very young. People often address her informally. | think
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that my states of anxiety have unfortunately been passed to my child as well. She's very unstable.
| think that the second and sometimes even the third generation of those that were imprisoned
during the war is marked in this way. They're always extreme in some manner. They're either
extremely active and assertive, or the opposite extreme. But I'm judging only from the few people
around me that | know.

I was in Israel with this one travel agency, it was an excellent trip. The itinerary included both
Jewish and Christian historical sites, otherwise | wouldn't have gone with them, because | want to
see as much as possible. Jerusalem made an amazing impression on me. A beautiful city, you can
smell the history there, is how | might put it. When I first arrived there, it seemed to me that
everything there was too white. But then | suddenly saw that it belonged there. Apparently it's
even a regulation passed by the mayor, that whatever is being built has to be white.

As far as emotions go, what made the biggest impression on me was the desert. | liked it very
much. Shadows in the desert. That made an artistic impression on me. And we were just driving
through it, this was just what | saw out of the bus window.

| went there together with my husband for eight days, which of course isn't that long. There were
two people from Prague there, one was for modern Israel, he was even a dentist by profession,
basically an enthusiast. He knew everything. The second tour guide was for historical things. Then
there was a third one, a local Israeli, who took care of organizational matters. The travel agency is
named Ars Viva, it's a travel agency for artists and architects, we've traveled with them several
times already. They do a lot of museum tours, it's aimed more at the artistic side of things. Those
people don't go around shopping.

| liked it in Israel very much. Maybe I'll go there again to have another look, | know some people
there who | was with during the war, but no one closer than that. We saw very little of Tel Aviv, we
didn't have enough time left, but | don't think that's a big loss, it's a modern city. We weren't in
those hotels by the sea either, there wasn't time for that. We spent a whole three days in
Jerusalem, and we even lived in a hotel in the old part. There we were, among other places, in the
beautiful Museum of Modern Art. They've got statues installed outside, which you don't see very
often. And all the things they've got there, | couldn't even fathom it all. South America, Australia.
Amazing.

As far as the political situation goes, I'm absolutely skeptical. | don't think that it can be resolved in
some way. | think that today I'm living in a world where unfortunately nothing can be resolved. |
don't know, the older | am, the less questions | have answers for. I'd like it for them to live there
side by side in some decent fashion, but | fear that it's not possible. When Israel was created, |
didn't even know about it. | was in completely different circles. Just a little bit got through to me
during the Six-Day-War 38.

I never thought about emigrating to Israel at all, God forbid. I'd die without that Czech countryside.
Czechs will of course get used to everything, that's a second truth, but what it's like for them,
that's a third truth. | for one love Prague, even though it's ruined, but it's a part of my childhood
and youth. Then I love our country's countryside, it's beautiful, varied, you'll find everything here.

Right now, the only thing that bothers me is that everything is more and more superficial. Or
uncultured. Everyone wants to be well off, or better, that's a normal reaction, but alas the most
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shallow, primitive outlook is used, and everything is about consumerism. I'm simply a person of the
20th century, not the 21st. | can't erase that from myself. The 20th century marked us, | for
example am at odds with technology. That point of view of ours is simply different. Just like |
laughed at my grandfather when he talked about Austro-Hungary and about World War I. We
thought he was making it up.

I myself never concerned myself with faith, for me it wasn't an issue, which probably isn't common.
According to me it's an anachronism, the way that Jewish orthodoxy manifests itself is an
anachronism. Those 640 prohibitions or how many there are. [Mitzvah: religious regulation or
commandment that a Jew is obliged to fulfill. According to Talmudic tradition, there are 613
commandments in all, 248 positive ones and 365 negative ones.] Then what most bothers me is
the position of women, which for me is absolutely demeaning. But if someone accepts it like that,
then it's all right. But this is what would repel me the most. But it would repel me from other
religions as well. This really is an anachronism, even though they say that thanks to this it's
survived. But I'm not so sure about that. Abroad there are even female rabbis, in America. Here
they'd have a fit.

About four years ago we succeeded in having a survey done at the Jewish community. It was done
by an agency specializing in this. The goal of the survey was to find out what the community's
members think its direction should be. Whether orthodox or not, and what their wishes are. There
were of course more questions than just that. The results of the survey were 80 percent liberally
thinking people and 20 percent orthodox ones. What do you think happened? Nothing. They
steamrollered them. That 20 percent completely steamrollered the 80 percent.

According to me, faith is a philosophical question, it doesn't relate only to Judaism. And that's
something | don't think | have resolved to this day. Faith is a gift, and | didn't get it. So it doesn't
mean that | condemn it. On the contrary, | think that maybe those people's lives are easier, | don't
know. When | found out something about Buddhism, if that can even be considered a religion,
that's the only one that's sympathetic. But | don't know if it's like that in practice. But if it helps
someone, that's fine. Subconsciously, some sort of searching is of course in everyone, and it
doesn't matter what it's called. Certainly everyone asks themselves questions about the meaning
of life, more or less deep ones.

After the war it never even occurred to me to go to the Jewish community. Not until later, when |
needed some confirmation, probably that | had been in the transport. Back then, | ran into one very
distant relative there, some Dr. lltis, who was in charge of the Jewish magazine at the time. When
he saw me, he said, 'Hey, you used to write poems.' He was this slight little man, he led me around
some offices there, and was saying, 'Look, there's this child here.' Well, | was already 19 or so. |
remember going into a room full of birth registers, where they were looking for some information
so they could give me that confirmation. It depressed me terribly. It was all dark there. | just took
the document and never returned there. Back then in 1950 my tendency was more to pretend that
| didn't belong there at all.

When | retired it was after the revolution, so | had the feeling that | should maybe help those
surviving Jews in some way. | was under the impression, and | was probably right, that the
survivors would often be in a situation where they wouldn't be able to communicate with neither
the middle nor the younger generation. And that it's necessary to explain something. Actually, in
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their own way it was the media that forced me into it, because they did interviews with me on this
subject. | also paid some sort of debt of mine when | wrote a script about Gustav Schorsch, who
helped me very much back then in Terezin. [Schorsch, Gustav (1918 - 1945): Czech stage director
of Jewish origin. Shot in January 1945 during the liguidation of the Flrstengrube concentration
camp.] | was glad that it could be done.

So | had to penetrate that Jewish environment. But | myself am secularized, | can't do anything
about that, and also don't know why | should suddenly put on a false front, just because it's
suddenly in fashion. | am first and foremost a citizen of the Czech Republic, and then by chance,
thanks to Hitler, | was put into some other pigeonhole. | think that any sort of extreme direction
leads to a certain undemocratic manifestation, and to restricting others. That basically often elicits
in me such an exaggerated reaction that | don't want to let myself be classified anywhere, and that
| want to be independent. It leads to a certain aloneness and loneliness. When you don't want to
belong anywhere, you have to come to terms with yourself. I'm not too successful at that.

Recently, about a year ago, some Austrian was coming here, a writer, and did some interviews with
me. The most important thing in that interview is the motto that | haven't come to terms, and
never will. Even though | know that things can't be changed. Maybe it's a childish rebellion, but it
expresses my attitude.

| had unpleasant experiences with anti-Semitism. Right after the war, | went to register with the

Political Prisoners' Association. They didn't accept me, that they don't accept Jews. That it wasn't
resistance activity. Then, people didn't want to return things that my father had hidden in places
before the war. Then, when they were throwing me out of Barrandov. At that time they said that
they didn't have anything against me, but that Jewish origin...that apparently | was unreliable.

During those worst times in my life, what helped me a lot was practicing expressive dance with
Jarmila Kréschlova [Krdschlova, Jarmila (1893 - 1983): Czech dancer, choreographer and teacher].
Sometimes a person has to stop, concentrate and relax. The way it began was that after the war
my brother was living with the dancer Rene Zachovalova, who had helped him during the war. She
was in Jarmila Kréschlova's dance group. Rene brought me there, but | attended for only a short
time, because you had to pay, and | didn't have money. So it took a while before | was able to
return again, but with small interruptions I've been attending to this day. Sometimes | also teach.
But it's just my hobby, not a profession.

Jarmila Kréschlova was excellent, she taught movement to all the actors at the conservatory. She
lived a long time; when she died she was over 90. She was even allowed to teach privately, even
though that was forbidden in the 1950s. She taught actors and we also used to go to her. But her
dance group wasn't together any more. | managed to see Dvorak's [Dvorak, Antonin (1841 - 1904):
Czech composer] Slavonic Dances, soon after the war, where she was still dancing. By then she
was well over 50. She was a beautiful woman, tall. And she wrote books on theory that by me are
the best in Europe. One is named 'O pohybu' [On Movement] and another 'Nauka o tanci' [Dance
Theory].

We, as her posthumous children, rent a dance hall from the Popular School of Art on Dittrichova
Street, below Karlovo namesti [Charles Square], once a week for two hours in the morning, because
the children attend in the afternoon. Several students of long years attend. Of all those people,
three of us have remained that can teach a bit, which is Eva Vyskocilova, the wife of lvan Vyskocil
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[Vyskocil, Ivan (b. 1929): Czech dramatist, writer of prose and actor], the writer, then Mila Babicka
and I. On Tuesday we have two hours in a row, and around ten people usually come, these 'old
ladies.' But if you saw it, it's like waving a magic wand, when they put those T-shirts on. You can
see on them that all their lives they've been doing things. Really. And then we go for coffee.

We've known each other for ages. Teaching is terribly interesting, | love to watch them sometimes.
The body speaks, that's amazing, even the way you move your hand, and from that movement of
theirs | can read a whole bunch of things. Everyone moves a little differently, and also someone
grasps it better, and that sense in their body awakens more easily for them. That what we're
practicing now is basically relaxation, these gymnastics, for example everything that you can do
with your shoulder joint. So that you're aware of it.

I've got to say, that many times movement saved me from deep depression. And that it gave me
more than all words, even more than all literature. When you start moving, you refresh yourself a
bit, and it cleanses a bit. Jarmila Kréschlova's maxim, when | summarize it with one very superficial
sentence, was for a person to get movement in tune with thoughts. This way you get into balance,
you relax, and in that moment you forget that you exist. | think that it's horrible when a person
can't move anymore. Horrible. I've got this one friend, a philosopher, who now just sits and lies
there. He's got willpower, he writes, publishes books, but nevertheless it's terrible. I'm very grateful
to Jarmila Kréschlova. And I'm not alone.

What to add: after the end of the war and my studies, and various reversals of fortune and
tribulations during the time of totality, my absorption with words manifested itself in dramaturgy,
scriptwriting and journalistic work. Besides the book 'Motyli tady neziji' [Butterflies Don't Live Here],
which features the drawings and poems of the imprisoned children of Terezin, 1942 - 1945, and
was translated into many languages, which contains my poems, often inspiring musicians and
authors of programs about the Holocaust, | wrote - later primarily with my husband Jiri Munk - script
treatments for children's animated serials, which are often broadcast on TV. Later also for short
animated films and several documentaries. Recently my husband and | have had two children's
books published, about dog cartoon characters, Staflik and Spageta. | can't count how many films
I've done the dramaturgy for.

Further enumeration of my various activities isn't important, because at the end of all activity, a
person asks himself the question of their relevance. Did | at least partly preserve my father's
legacy? My mother's legacy, whom | missed so much, and who luckily didn't live to see the horrific
war years? More and more questions without answers pile up around me. So only one difficult effort
remains. To come to terms.

Glossary

1 Anti-Jewish laws in the Protectorate of Bohemia and Moravia

In March 1939, there lived in the Protectorate 92,199 inhabitants classified according to the so-
called Nuremberg Laws as Jews. On 21st June 1939, Konstantin von Neurath, the Reich Protector,
passed the so-called Edict Regarding Jewish Property, which put restrictions on Jewish property. On
24th April 1940, a government edict was passed which eliminated Jews from economic activity.
Similarly like previous legal changes it was based on the Nuremburg Law definitions and limited the
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legal standing of Jews. According to the law, Jews couldn't perform any functions (honorary or paid)
in the courts or public service and couldn't participate at all in politics, be members of Jewish
organizations and other organizations of social, cultural and economic nature. They were
completely barred from performing any independent occupation, couldn't work as lawyers, doctors,
veterinarians, notaries, defense attorneys and so on. Jewish residents could participate in public life
only in the realm of religious Jewish organizations. Jews were forbidden to enter certain streets,
squares, parks and other public places. From September 1939 they were forbidden from being
outside their home after 8pm. Beginning in November 1939 they couldn't leave, even temporarily,
their place of residence without special permission. Residents of Jewish extraction were barred
from visiting theaters and cinemas, restaurants and cafés, swimming pools, libraries and other
entertainment and sports centers. On public transport they were limited to standing room in the
last car, in trains they weren't allowed to use dining or sleeping cars and could ride only in the
lowest class, again only in the last car. They weren't allowed entry into waiting rooms and other
station facilities. The Nazis limited shopping hours for Jews to twice two hours and later only two
hours per day. They confiscated radio equipment and limited their choice of groceries. Jews weren't
allowed to keep animals at home. Jewish children were prevented from visiting German, and, from
August 1940, also Czech public and private schools. In March 1941 even so-called re-education
courses organized by the Jewish Religious Community were forbidden, and from June 1942 also
education in Jewish schools. To eliminate Jews from society it was important that they be easily
identifiable. Beginning in March 1940, citizenship cards of Jews were marked by the letter ']’ (for
Jude - Jew). From 1st September 1941 Jews older than six could only go out in public if they wore a
yellow six- pointed star with ‘Jude' written on it on their clothing.

2 Terezin/Theresienstadt

A ghetto in the Czech Republic, run by the SS. Jews were transferred from there to various
extermination camps. The Nazis, who presented Theresienstadt as a 'model Jewish settlement,’
used it to camouflage the extermination of European Jews. Czech gendarmes served as ghetto
guards, and with their help the Jews were able to maintain contact with the outside world. Although
education was prohibited, regular classes were held, clandestinely. Thanks to the large number of
artists, writers, and scholars in the ghetto, there was an intensive program of cultural activities. At
the end of 1943, when word spread of what was happening in the Nazi camps, the Germans
decided to allow an International Red Cross investigation committee to visit Theresienstadt. In
preparation, more prisoners were deported to Auschwitz, in order to reduce congestion in the
ghetto. Dummy stores, a café, a bank, kindergartens, a school, and flower gardens were put up to
deceive the committee.

3 Hasek, Jaroslav (1883-1923)

Czech humorist, satirist, author of stories, travelogues, essays, and journalistic articles. His
participation in WWI was the main source of his literary inspiration and developed into the
character of Schweik in the four-volume unfinished but world-famous novel, The Good Soldier
Schweik. Hasek moved about in the Bohemian circles of Prague's artistic community. He also
satirically interpreted Jewish social life and customs of his time. With the help of Jewish themes he
exposed the ludicrousness and absurdity of state bureaucracy, militarism, clericalism and
Catholicism. (Information for this entry culled from Benét's Reader's Encyclopedia and other
sources)
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4 Lodz Ghetto

It was set up in February 1940 in the former Jewish quarter on the northern outskirts of the city.
164,000 Jews from Lodz were packed together in a 4 sq. km. area. In 1941 and 1942, 38,500 more
Jews were deported to the ghetto. In November 1941, 5,000 Roma were also deported to the
ghetto from Burgenland province, Austria. The Jewish self- government, led by Mordechai
Rumkowsky, sought to make the ghetto as productive as possible and to put as many inmates to
work as he could. But not even this could prevent overcrowding and hunger or improve the
inhuman living conditions. As a result of epidemics, shortages of fuel and food and insufficient
sanitary conditions, about 43,500 people (21% of all the residents of the ghetto) died of
undernourishment, cold and iliness. The others were transported to death camps; only a very small
number of them survived.

5 Masaryk, Tomas Garrigue (1850-1937)

Czechoslovak political leader and philosopher and chief founder of the First Czechoslovak Republic.
He founded the Czech People's Party in 1900, which strove for Czech independence within the
Austro-Hungarian Monarchy, for the protection of minorities and the unity of Czechs and Slovaks.
After the collapse of the Austro-Hungarian Monarchy in 1918, Masaryk became the first president
of Czechoslovakia. He was reelected in 1920, 1927, and 1934. Among the first acts of his
government was an extensive land reform. He steered a moderate course on such sensitive issues
as the status of minorities, especially the Slovaks and Germans, and the relations between the
church and the state. Masaryk resigned in 1935 and Edvard Benes, his former foreign minister,
succeeded him.

6 Sparta

The Sparta Praha club was founded on 16th November 1893. A memorial of the first very famous
era of the club's history are first and foremost two victories in the Central European Cup, which in
the 1920s and 1930s had the same significance as today's Champions League. Sparta, usually with
Slavia, always formed the foundation of the national team and therefore its players were present
during the greatest successes of the Czechoslovak and Czech teams.

7 Anti-Jewish laws in the Protectorate of Bohemia and Moravia

In March 1939, there lived in the Protectorate 92,199 inhabitants classified according to the so-
called Nuremberg Laws as Jews. On 21st June 1939, Konstantin von Neurath, the Reich Protector,
passed the so-called Edict Regarding Jewish Property, which put restrictions on Jewish property. On
24th April 1940, a government edict was passed which eliminated Jews from economic activity.
Similarly like previous legal changes it was based on the Nuremburg Law definitions and limited the
legal standing of Jews. According to the law, Jews couldn't perform any functions (honorary or paid)
in the courts or public service and couldn't participate at all in politics, be members of Jewish
organizations and other organizations of social, cultural and economic nature. They were
completely barred from performing any independent occupation, couldn't work as lawyers, doctors,
veterinarians, notaries, defense attorneys and so on. Jewish residents could participate in public life
only in the realm of religious Jewish organizations. Jews were forbidden to enter certain streets,


https://www.centropa.org/en/biography/alena-munkova
https://www.centropa.org

Q centropa www.centropa.org/en/biography/alena-munkova

squares, parks and other public places. From September 1939 they were forbidden from being
outside their home after 8pm. Beginning in November 1939 they couldn't leave, even temporarily,
their place of residence without special permission. Residents of Jewish extraction were barred
from visiting theaters and cinemas, restaurants and cafés, swimming pools, libraries and other
entertainment and sports centers. On public transport they were limited to standing room in the
last car, in trains they weren't allowed to use dining or sleeping cars and could ride only in the
lowest class, again only in the last car. They weren't allowed entry into waiting rooms and other
station facilities. The Nazis limited shopping hours for Jews to twice two hours and later only two
hours per day. They confiscated radio equipment and limited their choice of groceries. Jews weren't
allowed to keep animals at home. Jewish children were prevented from visiting German, and, from
August 1940, also Czech public and private schools. In March 1941 even so-called re-education
courses organized by the Jewish Religious Community were forbidden, and from June 1942 also
education in Jewish schools. To eliminate Jews from society it was important that they be easily
identifiable. Beginning in March 1940, citizenship cards of Jews were marked by the letter 'J' (for
Jude - Jew). From 1st September 1941 Jews older than six could only go out in public if they wore a
yellow six- pointed star with 'Jude' written on it on their clothing. 8 Zivnostenska Party: A right-of-
center party of small businessmen, founded in 1906 in Bohemia, and, two years later in Moravia,
which existed until 1938. The party did not have its own clean-cut program, never became a mass
party and never reached more than 5,4 percent of votes in parliamentary elections. The best-
known representatives of the party were Rudolf Mlcoch and Josef Najman.

9 Sokol

One of the best-known Czech sports organizations. It was founded in 1862 as the first physical
educational organization in the Austro- Hungarian Monarchy. Besides regular training of all age
groups, units organized sports competitions, colorful gymnastics rallies, cultural events including
drama, literature and music, excursions and youth camps. Although its main goal had always been
the promotion of national health and sports, Sokol also played a key role in the national resistance
to the Austro- Hungarian Empire, the Nazi occupation and the communist regime. Sokol flourished
between the two World Wars; its membership grew to over a million. Important statesmen,
including the first two presidents of interwar Czechoslovakia, Tomas Garrigue Masaryk and Edvard
Benes, were members of Sokol. Sokol was banned three times: during World War I, during the Nazi
occupation and finally by the communists after 1948, but branches of the organization continued to
exist abroad. Sokol was restored in 1990.

10 Czech-Jewish Movement

Czech assimilation had two unique aspects - Jews did not assimilate from the original ghetto, and
gave up German. Therefore they decided to assimilate into a non-ruling nation. After the year 1867
the first graduates began coming out of high schools. The members of the first generation of the C-
J movement considered themselves to be Jews only by denomination. The C-J question was for
them a question of linguistic, national and cultural assimilation. They strove for "de-
Germanization", published C-] literature, organized patriotic balls, entertainment, lectures, founded
associations.The rise of anti-Semitism and the close of the 19th century caused a deep crisis within
the C-) movement. In 1907 the Union of Czech Progressive Jews was founded by a group of
malcontents. This younger generation gave the movement a new impulse: assimilation was
considered to be first and foremost a religio-ethical one, that Czech nationality was an unchanging
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fact, somewhat complicated by Jewish origins. They didn't consider being Czech as a question of
language or nationality, but a religio-ethical problem, a matter of spiritual standard.

11 First Czechoslovak Republic (1918-1938)

The First Czechoslovak Republic was created after the collapse of the Austro-Hungarian Monarchy
following World War I. The union of the Czech lands and Slovakia was officially proclaimed in
Prague in 1918, and formally recognized by the Treaty of St. Germain in 1919. Ruthenia was added
by the Treaty of Trianon in 1920. Czechoslovakia inherited the greater part of the industries of the
Austro-Hungarian Monarchy and the new government carried out an extensive land reform, as a
result of which the living conditions of the peasantry increasingly improved. However, the
constitution of 1920 set up a highly centralized state and failed to take into account the issue of
national minorities, and thus internal political life was dominated by the struggle of national
minorities (especially the Hungarians and the Germans) against Czech rule. In foreign policy
Czechoslovakia kept close contacts with France and initiated the foundation of the Little Entente in
1921.

12 Exclusion of Jews from schools in the Protectorate

The Ministry of Education of the Protectorate of Bohemia and Moravia sent round a ministerial
decree in 1940, which stated that from school year 1940/41 Jewish pupils were not allowed to visit
Czech public and private schools and those who were already in school should be excluded. After
1942 Jews were not allowed to visit Jewish schools or courses organized by the Jewish communities
either. 13 Yellow star - Jewish star in Protectorate: On 1st September 1941 an edict was issued
according to which all Jews having reached the age of six were forbidden to appear in public
without the Jewish star. The Jewish star is represented by a hand-sized, six-pointed yellow star
outlined in black, with the word 'Jude' in black letters. It had to be worn in a visible place on the left
side of the article of clothing. This edict came into force on 19th September 1941. It was another
step aimed at eliminating Jews from society. The idea's author was Reinhard Heydrich himself.

14 Vlajka (Flag)

Fascist group in Czechoslovakia, founded in 1930 and active before and during WWII. Its main
representative was Josef Rys- Rozsevac (1901-1946). The group's political program was extreme
right, anti- Semitic and tended to Nazism. At the beginning of the 1940s Vlajka merged with the
Czech National Socialist Camp and collaborated with the German secret police, but the group never
had any real political power.

15 Nemcova Bozena (1820-1862)

Whose maiden name was Barbora Panklova, was born in Vienna into the family of Johann Pankl, a
nobleman's coachman. Was significantly influenced during the years 1825-29 by her upbringing at
the hands of her grandmother Magdalena Novotna. In 1837 she was married to financial official
Josef Nemec. She contributed to a number of magazines. She was inspired by the stories of
common folk to write seven collections of folk tales and legends and ten collections of Slovak fairy
tales and legends, which are generally a gripping fictional adaptation of fairy-tale themes. Through
her works Nemcova has to her credit the bringing together of the Czech and Slovak nations and
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their cultures. She is the author of travelogues and ethnographic sketches, realistic stories of the
countryside and the supreme novel Granny. Thanks to her rich folkloristic work and particularly her
work "Granny", Bozena Nemcova has taken her place among Czech national icons.

16 Macha, Karel Hynek (1810-1836)

Representative of High Romanticism, whose poetry, prose and drama express important questions
of human existence. Reflections on Judaism (and human emancipation as a whole) play an
important role in his work. Macha belonged to the intellectual avant- garde of the Czech national
society. He studied law. Macha died suddenly of weakening of the organism and of cholera on 6th
November 1836. Macha's works (Krivoklad, 1834) refer to a certain contemporary and social
vagueness in Jewish material - Jews are seen romantically and sentimentally as beings exceptional,
tragically ostracized, and internally beautiful. They are subjects of admiration as well as
condolence.

17 Dostoevsky, Fyodor (1821-1881)

Russian novelist, journalist and short- story writer whose psychological penetration into the human
soul had a profound influence on the 20th century novel. His novels anticipated many of the ideas
of Nietzsche and Freud. Dostoevsky's novels contain many autobiographical elements, but
ultimately they deal with moral and philosophical issues. He presented interacting characters with
contrasting views or ideas about freedom of choice, socialism, atheisms, good and evil, happiness
and so forth.

18 Kafka, Franz (1883-1924)

Austrian writer of Jewish descent. A lawyer by profession, he worked as an insurance agent in
Prague. After a debut in the press in 1909, he published only a few stories in his lifetime including
The Metamorphosis, The Judgment, and The Hunger Artist. He requested his manuscripts to be
destroyed after his death, but his friend, Max Brod, published his novels The Trial, The Castle, and
America. Kafka's writing is highly unconventional, expressive, dominated by the atmosphere of
fear, alienation and the feeling of being lost and helpless vis a vis the mechanisms of power.
Kafka's diaries and correspondence were also published.

19 Pritomnost

Magazine founded in 1924 by Ferdinand Peroutka. It became presumably the best political
magazine of its time. After the Nazi occupation of Czechoslovakia, Peroutka was deported to the
Buchenwald concentration camp. After the war Pritomnost was revived under the name Dnesek;
with February 1948 all came to an end. Revived in January 1995 under the name Nova Pritomnost.
In January 2000, Nova Pritomnost returned to Peroutka's original name of Pritomnost.

20 Peroutka, Ferdinand (1895-1978)

Czech journalist and political publicist of liberal orientation. In 1948 went into exile, 1951-61 was in
charge of the Czechoslovak broadcasts of Radio Free Europe. 21 Anschluss: The German term
"Anschluss” (literally: connection) refers to the inclusion of Austria in a "Greater Germany" in 1938.
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In February 1938, Austrian Chancellor Schuschnigg had been invited to visit Hitler at his mountain
retreat at Berchtesgaden. A two-hour tirade against Schuschnigg and his government followed,
ending with an ultimatum, which Schuschnigg signed. On his return to Vienna, Schuschnigg proved
both courageous and foolhardy. He decided to reaffirm Austria's independence, and scheduled a
plebiscite for Sunday, 13th March, to determine whether Austrians wanted a "free, independent,
social, Christian and united Austria." Hitler' protégé, Seyss-Inquart, presented Schuschnigg with
another ultimatum: Postpone the plebiscite or face a German invasion. On 11th March Schuschnigg
gave in and canceled the plebiscite. On 12th March 1938 Hitler announced the annexation of
Austria. When German troops crossed into Austria, they were welcomed with flowers and Nazi
flags. Hitler arrived later that day to a rapturous reception in his hometown of Linz. Less well
disposed Austrians soon learned what the "Anschluss" held in store for them. Known Socialists and
Communists were stripped to the waist and flogged. Jews were forced to scrub streets and public
latrines. Schuschnigg ended up in a concentration camp and was only freed in 1945 by American
troops.

22 Winton, Sir Nicholas (b
1909): A British broker and humanitarian worker, who in 1939 saved 669 Jewish children from the
territory of the endangered Czechoslovakia from death by transporting them to Great Britain.

23 Velvet Revolution

Also known as November Events, this term is used for the period between 17th November and 29th
December 1989, which resulted in the downfall of the Czechoslovak communist regime. A non-
violent political revolution in Czechoslovakia that meant the transition from Communist dictatorship
to democracy. The Velvet Revolution began with a police attack against Prague students on 17th
November 1989. That same month the citizen's democratic movement Civic Forum (OF) in Czech
and Public Against Violence (VPN) in Slovakia were formed. On 10th December a government of
National Reconciliation was established, which started to realize democratic reforms. On 29th
December Vaclav Havel was elected president. In June 1990 the first democratic elections since
1948 took place.

24 Brundibar

The children's opera Brundibar was created in 1938 for a contest announced by the then
Czechoslovak Ministry of Schools and National Education. It was composed by Hans Krasa based on
a libretto by Adolf Hoffmeister. The first performance of Brundibar - by residents of the Jewish
orphanage in Prague - wasn't seen by the composer. He had been deported to Terezin. Not long
after him, Rudolf Freudenfeld, the son of the orphanage's director, who had rehearsed the opera
with the children, was also transported. This opera had more than 50 official performances in
Terezin. The idea of solidarity, collective battle against the enemy and the victory of good over evil
today speaks to people the whole world over. Today the opera is performed on hundreds of stages
in various corners of the world.

25 Mlada Fronta
The idea of the creation of a young people's publisher came about during World War Il in the illegal
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Youth Movement for Freedom. For this purpose they selected a printer's oin Panska Street in
Prague, where the Nazi daily "Der Neue Tag" was being published, and in May 1945 they occupied
it and began publishing their own daily paper. The first editor-in-chief of Mlada Fronta was the poet
Vladimir Horec. Up until the end of 1989, the daily paper Mlada Fronta was published by the
publishing house of the same name. From September 1990, the readership base and editorial staff
were transferred over to the MaFra company, which began to publish a daily paper with a similar
name, Mlada Fronta DNES.

26 Small Fortress (Mala pevnost) in Theresienstadt

An infamous prison, used by two totalitarian regimes: Nazi Germany and communist
Czechoslovakia. It was built in the 18th century as a part of a fortification system and almost from
the beginning it was used as a prison. In 1940 the Gestapo took it over and kept mostly political
prisoners there: members of various resistance movements. Approximately 32,000 detainees were
kept in Small Fortress during the Nazi occupation. Communist Czechoslovakia continued using it as
a political prison; after 1945 German civilians were confined there before they were expelled from
the country.

27 Ravensbrick

Concentration camp for women near FlUrstenberg, Germany. Five hundred prisoners transported
there from Sachsenhausen began construction at the end of 1938. They built 14 barracks and
service buildings, as well as a small camp for men, which was completed separated from the
women's camp. The buildings were surrounded by tall walls and electrified barbed wire. The first
deportees, some 900 German and Austrian women were transported there on 18th May 1939, soon
followed by 400 Austrian Gypsy women. At the end of 1939, due to the new groups constantly
arriving, the camp held nearly 3000 persons. With the expansion of the war, people from twenty
countries were taken here. Persons incapable of working were transported on to Uckermark or
Auschwitz, and sent to the gas chambers, others were murdered during 'medical’ experiments. By
the end of 1942, the camp reached 15,000 prisoners, by 1943, with the arrival of groups from the
Soviet Union, it reached 42,000. During the working existence of the camp, altogether nearly
132,000 women and children were transported here, of these, 92,000 were murdered. In March of
1945, the SS decided to move the camp, so in April those capable of walking were deported on a
death march. On 30th April 1945, those who survived the camp and death march, were liberated
by the Soviet armies.

28 Joint (American Jewish Joint Distribution Committee)

The Joint was formed in 1914 with the fusion of three American Jewish committees of assistance,
which were alarmed by the suffering of Jews during World War I. In late 1944, the Joint entered
Europe's liberated areas and organized a massive relief operation. It provided food for Jewish
survivors all over Europe, it supplied clothing, books and school supplies for children. It supported
cultural amenities and brought religious supplies for the Jewish communities. The Joint also
operated DP camps, in which it organized retraining programs to help people learn trades that
would enable them to earn a living, while its cultural and religious activities helped re- establish
Jewish life. The Joint was also closely involved in helping Jews to emigrate from Europe and from
Muslim countries. The Joint was expelled from East Central Europe for decades during the Cold War
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and it has only come back to many of these countries after the fall of communism. Today the Joint
provides social welfare programs for elderly Holocaust survivors and encourages Jewish renewal
and communal development.

29 Socialist Youth Union (SZM)

A voluntary mass social organization of the youth of former Czechoslovakia. It continued in the
revolutionary tradition of children's and youth movements from the time of the bourgeois
Czechoslovak Republic and the anti-Fascist national liberation movement, and was a successor to
the Czechoslovak Youth Union, which ceased to exist during the time of the societal crisis of 1968.
In November 1969 the Federal Council of Children's and Youth Organizations was created, which
put together the concept of the SZM. In 1970, with the help of the Czechoslovak Communist Party,
individual SZM youth organizations were created, first in Slovakia and later in Czechia, which
underwent an overall unification from 9-11th November 1970 at a founding conference in Prague.
The Pioneer organization of the Socialist Youth Union formed a relatively independent part of this
whole. Its highest organ was the national conference. In 1975 the SZM was awarded the Order of
Klement Gottwald for the building of the socialist state. The press organ in Czechia was Mlada
Fronta and Smena in Slovakia. The SZM's activities ceased after the year 1989.

30 February 1948

Communist take-over in Czechoslovakia. The 'people's democracy' became one of the Soviet
satellites in Eastern Europe. The state apparatus was centralized under the leadership of the
Czechoslovak Communist Party (KSC). In the economy private ownership was banned and
submitted to central planning. The state took control of the educational system, too. Political
opposition and dissident elements were persecuted.

31 Slansky trial

In the years 1948-1949 the Czechoslovak government together with the Soviet Union strongly
supported the idea of the founding of a new state, Israel. Despite all efforts, Stalin's politics never
found fertile ground in Israel; therefore the Arab states became objects of his interest. In the first
place the Communists had to allay suspicions that they had supplied the Jewish state with arms.
The Soviet leadership announced that arms shipments to Israel had been arranged by Zionists in
Czechoslovakia. The times required that every Jew in Czechoslovakia be automatically considered a
Zionist and cosmopolitan. In 1951 on the basis of a show trial, 14 defendants (eleven of them were
Jews) with Rudolf Slansky, First Secretary of the Communist Party at the head were convicted.
Eleven of the accused got the death penalty; three were sentenced to life imprisonment. The
executions were carried out on 3rd December 1952. The Communist Party later finally admitted its
mistakes in carrying out the trial and all those sentenced were socially and legally rehabilitated in
1963. 32 Prague Spring: A period of democratic reforms in Czechoslovakia, from January to August
1968. Reformatory politicians were secretly elected to leading functions of the Communist Party of
Czechoslovakia (KSC). Josef Smrkovsky became president of the National Assembly, and Oldrich
Cernik became the Prime Minister. Connected with the reformist efforts was also an important
figure on the Czechoslovak political scene, Alexander Dubcek, General Secretary of the KSC Central
Committee (UV KSC). In April 1968 the UV KSC adopted the party's Action Program, which was
meant to show the new path to socialism. It promised fundamental economic and political reforms.
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On 21st March 1968, at a meeting of representatives of the USSR, Hungary, Poland, Bulgaria, East
Germany and Czechoslovakia in Dresden, Germany, the Czechoslovaks were notified that the
course of events in their country was not to the liking of the remaining conference participants, and
that they should implement appropriate measures. In July 1968 a meeting in Warsaw took place,
where the reformist efforts in Czechoslovakia were designated as "counter-revolutionary." The
invasion of the USSR and Warsaw Pact armed forces on the night of 20th August 1968, and the
signing of the so-called Moscow Protocol ended the process of democratization, and the
Normalization period began.

33 Novotny, Antonin (1904 - 1975)

President of Czechoslovakia from 1957 to 1968. During World War Il he participated in the
clandestine activities of the Communist Party of Czechoslovakia, in 1941 was arrested, and up to
1945 was imprisoned in the Mauthausen concentration camp. On 19th November 1957 he became
the president of Czechoslovakia; during the time of his rule a certain easing of conditions and the
partial rehabilitation of some that were unjustly convicted during the 1950s took place. Novotny
was President up to the so-called crisis of 28th March 1968, when he was forced to abdicate and
completely leave political life. 34 Benes, Eduard (1884-1948): Czechoslovak politician and
president from 1935-38 and 1946-48. He was a follower of T. G. Masaryk, the first president of
Czechoslovakia, and the idea of Czechoslovakism, and later Masaryk's right-hand man. After World
War | he represented Czechoslovakia at the Paris Peace Conference. He was Foreign Minister
(1918-1935) and Prime Minister (1921-1922) of the new Czechoslovak state and became president
after Masaryk retired in 1935. The Czechoslovak alliance with France and the creation of the Little
Entente (Czechoslovak, Romanian and Yugoslav alliance against Hungarian revisionism and the
restoration of the Habsburgs) were essentially his work. After the dismemberment of
Czechoslovakia by the Munich Pact (1938) he resigned and went into exile. Returning to Prague in
1945, he was confirmed in office and was reelected president in 1946. After the communist coup in
February 1948 he resigned in June on the grounds of illness, refusing to sign the new constitution.

35 Havel, Vaclav (1936-)

Czech dramatist, poet and politician. Havel was an active figure in the liberalization movement
leading to the Prague Spring, and after the Soviet-led intervention in 1968 he became a spokesman
of the civil right movement called Charter 77. He was arrested for political reasons in 1977 and
1979. He became President of the Czech and Slovak Republic in 1989 and was President of the
Czech Republic after the secession of Slovakia until January 2003.

36 Revolver Revue

The magazine has been published since 1985, up to 1989 under the name Sedesata Revolver
Revue as a samizdat. Today's quadriannual Revolver Revue is devoted to literature and art in wider
social implications. 37 Karlovy Vary (German name: Karlsbad): The most famous Bohemian spa,
named after Bohemian King Charles (Karel) IV, who allegedly found the springs during a hunting
expedition in 1358. It was one of the most popular resorts among the royalty and aristocracy in
Europe for centuries.
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38 Six-Day-War

(Hebrew: Milhemet Sheshet Hayamim), also known as the 1967 Arab-Israeli War, Six Days War, or
June War, was fought between Israel and its Arab neighbors Egypt, Jordan, and Syria. It began
when Israel launched a preemptive war on its Arab neighbors; by its end Israel controlled the Gaza
Strip, the Sinai Peninsula, the West Bank, and the Golan Heights. The results of the war affect the
geopolitics of the region to this day.
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